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Chair’s Report 
Vocational education is central to creating a high wage, 
high skills, high productivity future that all New Zealanders 
can share in. To ensure this vision becomes a reality, 
the Government is undertaking large scale reforms of 
vocational education, including establishing Te Pūkenga – a 
national New Zealand Institute of Skills and Technology - of 
which UCOL is a critical part. 

Created on April 1 2020 under the new Education and 
Training Act 2020, a new Board was appointed to UCOL 
replacing the UCOL Council. The new Board, working with 
the Senior Leadership Team, quickly set about developing 
a new strategic transition plan – Kia Eke Panuku, Eke 
Tangaroa (Reaching New Heights). 

This plan aims to put into effect the expectations of 
Government in ways that are relevant to the people and 
communities UCOL serves in Manawatū, Whanganui, 
Wairarapa, and Horowhenua. 

This means:

• Contributing to better educational and employment 
outcomes for Māori;

• Contributing to more equitable outcomes for all 
learners;

• Forming meaningful partnerships with a variety of 
stakeholders, in particular employers;

• Building a flexible, responsive, outward-looking 
organisation;

• Ensuring UCOL staff have the support they need to 
develop new capabilities; and

• Creating an international organisation. 

HE MIHI WELCOME

Given UCOL’s outstanding history, none of these goals 
are completely new. The strategic plan is all about taking 
forward the demonstrated strengths of UCOL in different 
and meaningful ways. Over the next two years, during the 
transition to Te Pūkenga, our aim is to ensure UCOL is well 
positioned for the new era. 

Of course, none of this has been or will be without 
challenges. In particular, COVID-19 disrupted the plans of 
all tertiary institutions in 2020. The staff and students of 
UCOL responded magnificently. In a very short period of 
time, programmes were shifted online and many other 
necessary changes were made. 

If there is a silver lining to the difficulties of the past year, it 
is that much of what has been achieved will be relevant to 
what we do in the future. 

I want to pay special thanks to the leadership of UCOL:  
Lyal French-Wright, our Chief Operating Officer in early 
2020, Chief Executive Dr Linda Sissons, and members of 
the Senior Leadership Team. Thanks also go to the new 
Board, who have quickly formed into an enthusiastic and 
effective team. 

In closing, let me note that UCOL has always been, and 
always will be, an ambitious organisation. As the transition 
to Te Pūkenga takes shape, our intention is to lead the 
way. We want the best for the staff and students of UCOL 
as well as the communities we serve. We can meet this 
goal by ensuring UCOL is ready to be part of the new 
national organisation. 

I have every reason to believe that we are up to the 
challenge. 

Kia kaha te haere

Hon. Steve Maharey CNZM 
Board Chair 
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Chief Executive’s Report
The 2020 calendar year was marked by two transformative 
events – the inauguration of Te Pūkenga – the New 
Zealand Institute of Skills and Technology, which turned 
UCOL into a subsidiary company of the National Institute; 
and COVID-19, which caused significant adjustments to our 
workplace and our teaching.

Our Institute demonstrated courage, innovation, and 
above all, care and concern for our tauira through the 
lockdown and beyond.

For the 12 month period, student numbers were 121 
above those of 2019. This outturn was influenced by not 
only UCOL’s comparatively small reliance on international 
students (7% of total EFTS) but also by our arrival profile, 
which saw almost all planned international students 
already in the country before lockdown.

UCOL maintained close relationships with regional 
economic development agencies to understand on a 
daily basis the effects COVID-19 was having on our rohe’s 
economy and jobs. Trades programmes grew as a result. 
The Ministry of Primary Industries (MPI) funded UCOL 
and EIT to deliver taster and short courses at Taratahi to 
150 people from throughout the North Island - many of 
whom had their careers or job prospects disrupted by the 
pandemic.  As a result, 65% of these learners were able to 
move into jobs or further training in the primary sector.

UCOL would like to give its thanks and recognition to 
the former Council, which stood down on 31 March. Our 
gratitude also to Lyal French-Wright, who led the Institute 
for the first five months of the year before deciding to 
focus his contribution as a member of the UCOL Limited 
Board.

The new Board, under the leadership of Hon. Steve 
Maharey as Chair, is acknowledged for the decisive and 
inspiring way it ushered in the new era for our vocational 
education and training.

Please note that within this report, the financial statements 
are for the nine month period 1 April 2020 to 31 December 
2020. The budget is for the nine month period 1 April 2020 
to 31 December 2020. No comparative period is disclosed.

All those who work at UCOL went above and beyond 
during 2020. They adapted to unique circumstances, 
enhanced their skillsets, and ensured the safety, support, 
and study success of our tauira. The team of 400 is 
congratulated and thanked.  

Dr Linda Sissons 
Chief Executive
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OUR TEAM

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM
Dr Amanda Lynn BA, PG Dip Bus, PhD  Chief Executive (until 23 July 2020)
Mr Lyal French-Wright BSC Chief of Operations (until 10 May 2020)
Dr Linda Sissons CNZM, MA, Dip Adult Ed, PhD Chief Executive (from 11 May 2020)
Ms Christine Beech BApplMgmt, MPRINZ  Director Public Relations and Communications
Dr Arthur Chin JP, DBA, MA, FFin, BCA (Hons), PhD  Executive Director Business Development 
Ms Gianetta Lapsley BHortSci, MEdAdminLead Executive Director Quality
Mr Teina Mataira BA, PostGradDipTchg  Pouārahi-Director of Māori and Pacific Peoples Education
Dr Jerry Shearman, BPhED, MSc, PhD, QTS  Executive Director Education and Applied Research
Mr Brian Trott, BBS, CA Chief Financial Officer

UCOL BOARD
Appointed by Te Pūkenga

CHAIR
Hon. Steve Maharey

DEPUTY CHAIR
Verne Atmore

DIRECTORS
Mark Cleaver
Lyal French-Wright
Katarina Hina
Barry Jordan
Lorraine Stephenson
Linda Stewart

TUITUI TĀNGATA OUR PEOPLE
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Our Staff
At UCOL we value our skilled and committed staff, who 
are engaged to deliver our vision of inspiring students, 
businesses, and communities to succeed.

We believe our mission – to develop great graduates who 
make a difference wherever they work in the world – 
should be lived here at UCOL, and we enjoy recognising 
excellence and investing in staff development.

Providing an environment where individuals can develop 
their lives and careers is at the heart of what we do, and 
this is as true for our staff as it is for our students. We 
embrace diversity, talent, and performance.

Our employees come from a wide range of backgrounds 
– some from within industry who are keen to pass on 
their knowledge, and others with existing academic 
and professional backgrounds. Students at UCOL learn 
from staff who care about the success of UCOL and 
their students, and who are dual professionals – not just 
teachers, but also experts in their fields. Their ongoing 
connections with industry mean that UCOL’s programmes 
prepare students to find their place in the community and 
economy.

Workshops were also held to ensure targeted capability 
building in the following areas:

• Te Tiriti o Waitangi.
• Mental health first aid.
• Professional boundaries.
• Enhancing student learning through effective teaching.
• Leaders growing leaders.
• Self-managing teams.
• Training in employment investigations.
• Lockdown training.
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NGĀ UARA VALUES IN ACTION
Equal Education Opportunities 
In order for our students to succeed, they must be in the 
right programmes at the right time and be supported as 
they progress through their studies. 

UCOL believes the study journey starts with the first touch 
– whether that is a UCOL person or collateral – and it 
usually occurs well before a student arrives at one of our 
campuses.

Subject-matter experts and our engagement teams 
pay careful attention to providing students with the 
information they need to make sound choices, and we 
have established communication channels that are, in 
many cases, bespoke to each given programme.

In addition to having academic support, many students 
engage in pre-enrolment conversations (Kōrero Process) to 
identify interests and existing skills, to help them be placed 
in the best programmes that meet their expectations. This 
support continues once they are enrolled to optimise their 
ability to succeed. Ongoing support is provided through a 
mix of subject-matter experts, the Student Success Team’s 
various academic support methods and targeted support 
for priority learners, including Māori and Pasifika learners 
and our dual-enrolment students through the Raukura 
team and U-Skills Academy.

Throughout their time at UCOL, students have access to 
a range of services that can support them and help them 
reach their potential. The Student Success Team take a 
student lifecycle approach and engage with students at 
any time from pre-enrolment. In addition to academic and 
learning support, services cover wider needs that students 
may require support with, such as disability, counselling 
and mental health, financial, and welfare.

We continue to provide as many opportunities as we 
can for prospective and returning students to engage 
with UCOL, through information evenings, meetings, and 
whānau hui.

Approximately 30% of UCOL’s students identify as being of 
Māori descent, 6% are of Pasifika descent. In comparison, 
this is high when considering the wider Māori population 
is approximately 18% of the Manawatū, Whanganui, 
Horowhenua, and Wairarapa region (based on 2013 
Census – Statistics NZ).  

UCOL Māori students identify with 113 iwi groups across 
the country, with the majority being from Ngāti Porou (East 
Coast), Te Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi (Whanganui/Rangītikei, 
Ngāpuhi (Northland/Auckland), Ngāti Kahungunu (Hawke’s 
Bay), and Tūwharetoa (Rotorua/Taupō). Māori staff are 
equally diverse with their iwi affiliations.  

Iwi Māori and Community Engagement
• The Te Mataora consortium, a regional Iwi and 

Pasifika representatives forum, continues to guide 
and lead our Māori and Pasifika Trades Training 
(MPTT) programme at a governance level. The MPTT 
programme continues to grow in strength and in 
2020 achieved its highest qualification achievement 
rate. There were many other tauira identified who 
could benefit from MPTT but our learners capacity (92 
students) had been exceeded – we have requested this 
be increased. We continue to have strong relationships 
with regional marae, and are eager to extend our 
support on our Taumaranui, Raetihi, and Marton 
campuses. 

• Within the MPTT programme we have now launched 
a work-ready support programme on each campus. 
Occuring fortnightly (and often weekly), this 
programme has good attendance and participation, 
and is done in partnership with an extensive network 
of community organisations. We have already seen 
that this programme improves students’ opportunities 
for work experience.

• Our formal relationship with Te Rūnanga o Ngāti Apa/
Ngā Wairiki at Rangitīkei has grown from strength to 
strength. We have an ongoing commitment to work in 
partnership to bring training and education to their iwi 
descendants, as well as the wider Marton community. 
We consider this rural learning hub to be a stand out 
example of iwi and institution relationships.

• We continue to collaborate in iwi, across the wider 
regional rohe, to assist them in achieving their 
development goals.

• All campuses have start of year and mid-year pōwhiri 
for new students and staff.

• UCOL continues to support the ‘Kick For The Seagulls’ 
numeracy and literacy skills prison education 
rehabilitation programme. In 2020 we were partnering 
with four prisons to provide this.

• 2020 brought a significant and monumental change in 
the way the ITP system operates, with the coming of 
Te Pūkenga. At the heart of Te Pūkenga is the ‘Letter 
of Expectations’ with a commitment to Māori learners 
being the main focus. As part of the changes, all 16 
institutions (subsidiaries) undertook a self-assessment 
exercise to ascertain their current level of commitment 
to Te Tiriti. This was submitted to Te Pūkenga who will 
be providing feedback and guidance.
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Equal Employment Opportunities
We are committed to creating an inclusive environment 
that supports UCOL’s aims and aspirations for all people, 
regardless of gender, ethnicity, cultures, disability, sexual 
orientation, family responsibilities, age, religion, and family 
status, or people who have been affected by domestic 
violence. We are committed to ensuring that all employees 
are supported in order for them to perform at their full 
potential, and to eliminate the barriers that cause or 
perpetuate inequality in employment. 

UCOL’s EEO policy sets out the framework within which we 
undertake to meet our equity obligations.

Our Commitment to Equity and Diversity
UCOL appoints staff to all positions on the basis of merit 
from a wide cross section of talent. We define merit as; 
knowledge, skills, abilities, experience, and personal 
qualities, as well as formal qualifications.

As at 31 December 2020 we employed 61.96% females and 
38.04% males. 

Our Commitment to Te Tiriti o Waitangi – Diversity 
Strategies
Māori staffing in 2020 decreased to 14.35% (0.79% 
decrease), which is lower than we would like in order to 
provide representation across staff and management, and 
to better reflect of our Māori student population. We are 
committed to continuing to work on increasing Māori and 
Pasifika staff representation in 2021, particularly in the 
areas of teaching staff and management roles.

Te Waka Hourua – Māori Success Strategy
This strategy guides us in our journey to achieve 
ōritetanga/parity between Māori students’ successful 
course completions and the completion rates for all 
students at UCOL.

He Kākano Rua – UCOL’s Cultural Competency 
Framework
This framework guides staff in their journey to increase 
their cultural competency and apply this in their work. 
UCOL’s Māori staff are instrumental in leading this 
framework through their direct and frequent engagement 
with staff. Recruitment started in quarter four for three 
He Kākano Rua staff, who will enhance and drive delivery 
of the He Kākano Rua framework on each campus. 
Recruitment is ongoing, with one role appointed so far.

In addition, in 2020 we continued to hold the following 
events to support further understanding, and 
implementation of Te Tiriti o Waitangi at UCOL:

• Tangata Tiriti – workshops were held in April with 74 
staff attending in 2020. UCOL is committed to ensuring 
all staff attend Tangata Tiriti workshops in the next 
three years. 

• Beginner and intermediate te reo Māori courses, each 
10 weeks long, have been a feature on our personal 
development calendar for the last four years. They are 
enjoyed by staff and community across our campuses. 

• UCOL actively promotes and celebrates Matariki 
and Te Wiki o te Reo Māori (Māori Language Week) 
annually on all campuses.

• As part of UCOL’s annual Public Lecture Series, 
our recent presenters over the last few years have 
included Māori actor Blair Strang, actor and te reo 
Māori speaker Jennifer Ward-Lealand, and Pūoro 
Jerome, a Tohunga Pūoro (traditional Māori wind 
instruments practitioner).

Iwi Māori and Community Engagement
• In 2020, alongside Ngāti Kahungunu and Rangitāne o 

Wairarapa, we continued working on the restoration of 
Te Amorangi whare on the UCOL Wairarapa campus. 
This haumanu whare (restoration) is near completion.

• We continue to collaborate with iwi, across the 
wider regional rohe, to assist them in achieving their 
development goals.

• All campuses have start of year and mid-year pōwhiri 
for new students and staff, and the orientation 
programme for UCOL’s new staff starts with monthly 
mihi whakatau. The pleasing trend we have noticed 
over the last two years is that gradually more new 
staff, including non-Māori, are introducing themselves 
with ‘pepeha’ in these sessions.

Legislation used for EEO planning at UCOL:
• Education and Training Act (2020).
• Equal Pay Act (1972).
• Health and Disability Commissioner Act (1994).
• State Sector Act Amendment No. 2 (2004).
• Human Rights Act (1993).
• Employment Relations Act (2000).
• Health and Safety in Employment Act (2015) and its 

Amendments.
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Health and Safety at UCOL
Health and Safety at UCOL
UCOL is accountable for creating and maintaining a safe, 
healthy work and learning environment for all staff, 
students, and contractors. We believe in a strong safety 
culture that enables everyone to contribute to a safe 
working environment. 

COVID-19 and the closure of our campuses tested our 
emergency management preparedness and valuable 
lessons were learnt across the faculties and departments. 
Overall, UCOL was able to meet all the Ministry of Health 
(MoH) requirements. As we stepped back through the 
various levels of reopening our campuses safely, we also 
maintained our communication with staff, students, and 
stakeholders, ensuring they were fully informed on what 
was happening and how it affected them.

COVID-19 made us look at things differently and review 
how we could deliver more effectively in a remote working 
environment.

Emergency Management Policies and Business 
Continuity Plans
When the campuses reopened a full Incident Management 
Team debrief was undertaken. This covered all aspects 
of the campus closures, including facility deliveries and 
department support services. As a result of this, our 
Business Continuity Plans for each area were updated to 
reflect the findings of the debrief. 

Emergency Management Policy and Procedures were also 
reviewed to ensure they reflected the recommendations 
of the debrief, so we are suitably prepared for any future 
emergency situations.

Kia eke panuku, 
eke Tangaroa
Excellence

Te huringa tangata
Transformation

Kia kakamā
Agility

Whanaungatanga
Relationships

UCOL VALUES

Risk Management 
In June 2020 approval was given to run a trial for the 
integration of risks from a corporate and health and 
safety perspective. At the end of this trial period, the 
Chief Executive gave approval for the formation of the 
Compliance, Risk, and Governance Unit. To strengthen the 
management and reporting of risks, the Unit is currently 
looking for a combined Risk Management system based on 
the principles of “Bow Tie Risk” evaluation.

This new system will identify risk ratings before controls 
are applied (inherent ratings) and risk rating after controls 
are applied (residual ratings).

Management Commitment
UCOL is committed to delivering a healthy, safe 
environment for our staff and students. To that end, we 
have put in place management systems and processes 
that have become the cornerstone principles of what we 
do, and we are embedding them into our decision making 
processes.
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Statement of Research
Research and knowledge transfer continues to grow and 
go from strength to strength at UCOL. Our work in this 
space is based on the refreshed Research and Knowledge 
Transfer Strategy 2019-2024, which has a focus on 
improving the quality of our research and sharing our 
knowledge with key stakeholders. The refreshed strategy 
aligns with the cycle of the next Performance-Based 
Research Fund (PBRF). Research is also prominent in the 
2021-2022 Strategic Transition Business Plan. 

2020 posed challenges for researchers with much of their 
focus on a COVID-19 teaching response. However, there 
were still some excellent outputs for teams across our 
degree portfolio. Where research was already underway 
and staff were in the output production phase of their 
research, progress was good. Emerging researchers were 
more affected as planning and data capture was impacted, 
and in some cases not possible. 

In 2020 UCOL played an active part in the Research 
Directors’ Forum. This has representation from almost 
all of the subsidiary ITPs, with a focus on leveraging the 
emergence of Te Pūkenga and how the subsidiaries can 
align with the overall direction of the new institution. One 
area of particular focus is Māori research. The Rangahau 
Māori group was formed to guide Te Pūkenga, and in 
relation to research is acknowledged by the Research 
Directors’ Forum as the internal Māori Te Tiriti partner. 
The Rangahau Māori group will partner with the Research 
Directors and align with the aspirations of whānau, hapū, 
iwi, and hapori Māori.  

More widely, the Research Directors have been looking at 
a number of initiatives to move research ahead, including: 
identifying focus research projects across the network, 
harmonising procedures (such as ethics), growing external 
research income, developing capability, preparing for the 
next PBRF, and supporting staff to do research.

TE MAHI RANGAHAU RESEARCH
Research Statements 
Bachelor of Applied Management
2020 was a challenging year in terms of progressing 
research projects for the Bachelor of Applied Management 
Team. The team identified four main research projects as 
part of their 2020 Research Plan, with other staff scholarly 
activity also planned. This research was based around the 
investigation into the importance of work experience to 
academics, looking for ways to address office nuisances 
to enhance the workplace environment, examining 
factors that influence the development of student 
interdependence in learning, and examining the extent 
and nature of undistributed Trust funds in New Zealand 
charities. COVID-19, and the associated lockdown, had 
an impact on research progress within the team, with the 
focus of staff moving to distance and online delivery and 
supporting our students through this time. Despite this, 
the team achieved the submission of two journal articles 
that are currently under peer-review, with another staff 
member presenting at a national conference. The Applied 
Management Team are keen to resume their research 
activities in 2021, with a number of projects already 
planned in collaboration with other staff and areas within 
UCOL. These will be included in the 2021 research plan 
and will build on the team’s research achievements from 
2019 and 2020.

Bachelor of Information and Communications 
Technology
The 2020 Research Plan for the Bachelor of Information 
and Communications Technology identified that all staff 
were engaged in research, with a total of 10 planned 
research projects. Most of this research involved 
collaboration both within the ICT team, and with 
researchers in other tertiary institutions. This provides 
a great platform for the sharing of ideas, improving 
research skills, and increasing research outputs for the 
School. Research projects were based around areas such 
as ICT education, data science, machine learning, student 
success, and technologies to improve course management 
and assessments. Through existing collaborations, one 
staff member is exploring external research funding 
through applications to the Marsden Research Fund 
and the National Science Challenge. COVID-19, and the 
associated lockdown, had an impact on research progress 
within the team, with the focus of staff moving to distance 
and online delivery and supporting our students through 
this time. Despite this, one staff member achieved two 
peer-reviewed journal article publications in international 
journals with high impact factors. The staff research 
activities will continue into 2021, with the existing projects 
and collaborations planned to achieve publication. The 
team is well positioned to expand on their research 
activities from 2019 and 2020.
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Bachelor of Applied Science (Laboratory Science)
The Bachelor of Applied Science (Laboratory Science) 
was first offered in 2020 and extended UCOL’s delivery of 
the Level 5 and Level 6 New Zealand Diploma in Science 
qualifications. The Laboratory Science Team consists of 
five staff, with 80% of these staff involved in a total of 12 
research projects in 2020. A key strength of this research 
is the high level of collaboration with researchers in 
universities (both in New Zealand and overseas). Despite 
the impact of COVID-19, this degree team managed to 
complete three peer-reviewed journal article publications, 
two related to diet and inflammatory bowel disease 
(published in the NZ Medical Journal and Nutrients 
Journal) and one related to Influence of Symbiont Species 
on the Glycerol and Glucose Pools in a Model Cnidarian-
Dinoflagellate Symbiosis (published in Biology Bulletin 
Journal). In addition to this, the team completed two 
industry reports/presentations (Validation of a flow 
injection analyser [FIA] and Antioxidant levels in Apple 
Cider Vinegar). Progress was also made in three other 
projects, with one currently being prepared for publication. 
There was one staffing change in 2020, with the new staff 
member involved in a project around micro-plastics in the 
Manawatū River. This will be added to the 2021 research 
plan. This has been a very successful year of research for 
this team and has set them up well to continue this into 
2021.

Bachelor of Social Services
UCOL introduced the Bachelor of Social Services for the 
first time in 2020. The research plan for 2020 proposed 
that the staff start scoping an initial project around 
reflective practice amongst social service organisations. 
Due to the challenges in 2020 around the implementation 
of a new degree programme (only offered year one in 
2020), staffing changes, and the impact of COVID-19, the 
progress on this project to date has been limited. The staff 
team will be re-evaluating their research plan for 2021, 
alongside the implementation of year two of the Bachelor 
of Social Services. 

Bachelor of Applied Science (Medical Imaging 
Technology)
The Medical Imaging Technology Team started the year 
with staff engaged in two research projects – one based 
on educational practice and feedback, and the other 
examining where science meets art (in collaboration with 
UCOL Creative staff) based around the imaging of bugs. 
The latter project achieved an exhibition output, alongside 
a planned exhibition, at the Te Manawa Museum in 
Palmerston North. There have been some staffing changes 
in the Medical Imaging Team, and this, with the impact 
of COVID-19, has had an impact on research activities. 
The demands on staff during and post-lockdown, due to 
the high clinical nature of this programme’s delivery and 
spread of the students, impacted on the time available for 
research activities. The team will use the research planning 
process for 2021 to refocus their research engagement 
and activities, with a focus on increasing their level of 
research engagement and progress towards outputs.

Bachelor of Creative Media
The Bachelor of Creative Media staff were involved 
in a total of seven research projects across a range 
of specialities within the Creative Media portfolio 
(photography, video, illustration, and animation). The 
research plan also highlighted collaborative projects with 
both the Medical Imaging and Whanganui Art and Design 
staff. The research project examining where science meets 
art (based around bugs) achieved an exhibition output, 
alongside a planned exhibition at the Te Manawa Museum 
in Palmerston North. As with staff research in other areas 
of UCOL, COVID-19 and the associated lockdowns did have 
an impact on the progress of research projects within 
this team, with the focus being on supporting students 
and their learning. It also impacted on the potential for 
staff to exhibit their work during this time. As in previous 
years, staff and students again performed well at the New 
Zealand Institute of Professional Photography (NZIPP) 
Awards. In addition to this, the team developed a strong 
connection with industry through industry projects 
and research, including a concept design for projection 
mapping and storytelling. A number of projects have 
been identified for the 2021 research plan, with proposals 
currently being developed. These will see the research 
activities of the staff significantly increase in 2021, with 
planned outputs to occur as the research progresses.
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Bachelor of Design and Art (Visual Arts; Design Media; 
Fashion and Textiles)
Staff on the UCOL Bachelor of Design and Art, and the 
Master of Design, were engaged in a total of eight research 
projects in 2020 across a range of areas within the Art 
and Design qualifications. Research included areas of 
visual communication, graphic design and topography, 
animation, photography, glass and digital printing, and 
community collaboration in the area of fashion. This team 
is a very active research team, however, as with other 
areas of UCOL, COVID-19 and the associated lockdowns 
did impact on the progress of research projects, with the 
focus being on supporting our students and their learning. 
It also impacted on the potential for staff to exhibit their 
work during this time. One staff member was on track 
to complete her Masters at the end of 2020, with an 
exhibition planned for early 2021. As with past years, this 
team is very focused on research and is well positioned to 
expand their research activity in 2021.

Bachelor of Exercise and Sport Science/Bachelor of 
Applied Science (Physical Activity and Wellness; Strength 
and Conditioning; Sport and Recreation Management)
The 2020 research plan for the staff within the Exercise 
and Sport Science/Applied Science teaching team 
showed a significant focus on research, with 15 research 
projects identified and two staff members also involved 
in continuing education. Staff research covered a range 
of areas across Sport, Health and Exercise. Examples 
of projects included: strength and conditioning of 
power athletes, an exploratory study of New Zealand 
youth related to the impact of fitness and obesity on 
immunity, body composition and fitness, physical activity 
and depression after mild brain injury, training and 
protein supplementation on balance and falls risk, sport 
performance, and impact of shift work on health and 
wellbeing outcomes. These projects are all highly related 
to the areas covered in this degree and also showcase a 
very high level of collaboration with researchers in other 
tertiary institutions, both in New Zealand and overseas. 
As with other degrees, COVID-19 impacted on research 
progression but this team is highly active and focused on 
progressing these projects towards outputs. One active 
researcher left the team in 2020 but the collaboration 
between the other staff and this researcher will continue 
to progress these projects. Obtaining external ethical 
approval, as required for some projects, is a challenge 
and has affected the ability to commence some research 
within planned timeframes. Despite a challenging year in 
2020, the staff managed to publish three journal articles 
in peer-reviewed journals and two poster conference 
presentations. One staff member also completed their 
Masters dissertation, which achieved distinction. As with 
past years, this team is focused on research and is well 
positioned to continue their research activity in 2021.

Bachelor of Nursing
The research activity of the Nurse Education Team 
continued to develop in 2020 and built on the research 
projects that were instigated in 2019. The research plan 
for the degree identified 11 research projects, involving 
a number of the staff. Eight staff were also involved in 
postgraduate study, with three of these at a PhD level. 
While only some of this study contributes to the research 
activity of the team, postgraduate study will support the 
development of research capability in this team. The 
research plan identifies research across a range of areas 
relevant to the curriculum, including palliative care, the 
clinical experience, nursing and genetics conversations, 
student and graduate perceptions of employment in 
aged care, understanding the need for serology teaching 
in nursing students, impact of the UCOL personal 
tutor system on student retention and achievement, 
and student progress within the clinical environment. 
COVID-19, and the associated lockdown, had an impact 
on research progress, with staff having to adapt delivery 
and support students during this time, especially given 
the significant impact on clinical experience. In terms 
of outputs, the team achieved the publication of two 
journal articles in peer-reviewed nursing journals on 
the topics of preparing students for end-of-life care and 
death, and perceptions of internationally qualified nurses 
transitioning into a Bachelor of Nursing qualification in 
New Zealand. In addition, one further journal article has 
been submitted for publication and is currently under 
review. A focus of the 2021 research plan will be on 
increasing the level of research engagement of the staff 
in the Nurse Education Team to meet UCOL’s strategic 
targets and to develop their research capability.
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Research Outputs
Awards
Rotherham, I. Silver Award. Rise International Photography 
Awards. 

Rotherham, I. 2 x Bronze Awards. Rise International 
Photography Awards. 

Journal and Book Articles
Bashir, Z., Malik, M.G.A., Afridi, F. & Rashid, T. (2020) The 
algebraic and lattice structures of type-2 intuitionistic fuzzy sets. 
Computational and Applied Mathematics, 39,(1), 1-21.

Naeem, M.A., Mehmood, E. & Malik, M.G.A. (2020). Optimizing 
semi-stream CACHEJOIN for near-real-time data warehousing. 
Journal of Database Management, 31(1): 20-37.

Malik, M.G.A., Bashir, Z., Iqbal, N. & Imtiaz, M.A. (2020). Color 
image encryption algorithm based on hyper-chaos and DNA 
computing. IEEE Access. 8: 88093-88107.

Pritchard HJ., Keogh J.W., Winwood P.W. (2020). Tapering 
practices of elite CrossFit athletes. International Journal of 
Sports Science & Coaching, 15(5-6):753-761. https://doi.org/ 
10.1177/1747954120934924

Corner, K. (2020). Perceptions of Indian IQNs transitioning into a 
Bachelor of Nursing Programme in New Zealand. Kia Tiaki Nursing 
Research, 11, 61-62.

Davenport, F. (2020). Preparing students for end-of-life care and 
death. Kia Tiaki Nursing New Zealand, 26(7), 16-18.

Narayanan A., Desai F., Stewart T., Duncan S., Mackay L. (2020). 
Application of raw accelerometer data and machine-learning 
techniques to characterize human movement behavior: A 
systematic scoping review. Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 
17(3), 360-383. https://doi.org/ 10.1123/jpah.2019-0088. 

Morton, H., Pedley, K. C., Stewart, R. J., Coad, J. (2020). 
Inflammatory bowel disease: Are symptoms and diet linked? 
Nutrients, 12(10), 2975. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/nu12102975

Morton, M., Pedley, K.C., Stewart, R.J.C., Coad, J. (2020). Vitamin D 
concentrations in New Zealanders with and without inflammatory 
bowel disease: Do they differ? New Zealand Medical Journal, 
133(1511}, 61-70.

Starzak D.E., Quinnell R.G., Cook C.B., Davy S.K. (2020). Influence 
of symbiont species on the glycerol and glucose pools in a model 
cnidarian-dinoflagellate symbiosis. Biological Bulletin, 239(2), 143-
151. https://doi.org/ 10.1086/710349. 

Gilbey, A. & Kawtar, T. (2020). Pets and loneliness: Examining the 
efficacy of a popular measurement instrument. Anthrozoös, 33(4), 
529-546, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/08927936.2020.1771058.

Conference Presentations
Travis, S.K., Pritchard, H.J., Mujika, I. & Bazyer, C.D. (2020). 
Characterising the tapering practices of international level North 
American powerlifters. NSCA National Conference. Australia. July, 
2020.

Mann, M.E. & Dacanay, K. (2020). Does a 6-week plyometric 
training programme on sand improve vertical jump height 
performance? A narrative review. The Journal of Sport and Exercise 
Science, 4(3), 43.

Conference Proceedings and Other Publications
Stewart, R.J. (2020). Industry Report: Validation of a flow injection 
analyser (FIA). Central Environmental Laboratories.

Exhibitions
Falkner, T. 2020. Exhibition as part of the Te Manawa Exhibition 
(Curated) – Bugs! Our Backyard Heroes, Palmerston North, New 
Zealand. (2020, October 17 - 2021, May 1) Bugs! Our Backyard 
Heroes.
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Introduction
Our Statement of Service Performance, when read 
in conjunction with the Annual Report, provides an 
assessment of our performance against our strategic goals 
for the 2020 Financial Year.

Our Strategic Story
O Tatou Kitenga - Vision: To inspire students, businesses 
and communities to succeed.

Kaupapa - Mission: Develop great graduates who make a 
difference wherever they work in the world.

During 2020 we have gone through the process to update 
our strategic story, vision, and mission. This has involved 
consulting with staff, stakeholders, and students to 
prepare UCOL for the Te Pūkenga transition. 

Areas of Focus
In 2020 we focussed on:

• Continuing to grow our research and knowledge 
transfer capability.

• Teaching excellence.

• Improving educational outcomes for all of our 
learners.

• Strong governance and strategic management.

• Increasing our stakeholder engagement.

• Continuity of delivery to students during COVID-19.

HE KŌRERO MŌ NGĀ HUA 
STATEMENT OF SERVICE 
PERFORMANCE 2020

Measures of Success 
Our success is measured by the following four outcomes:

• Outcome 1 – UCOL is a preferred provider of learning.

• Outcome 2 – Our students succeed.

• Outcome 3 – We collaborate with key stakeholders 
to find unique solutions and mutually beneficial 
outcomes.

• Outcome 4 – We will achieve a targeted evaluation 
outcome that reflects our high quality contribution to 
Te Pūkenga at our next assessment in 2021.

Tertiary Education Strategy
The Tertiary Education Strategy 2014-2019 set out a 
number of priorities for the sector, which UCOL continued 
to implement in 2020.  The new Tertiary Education Strategy 
(TES) was released late in 2020. 

Our Investment Plan 2019-2021
In 2019 we re-negotiated our Investment Plan for 2019-
2021 with the Tertiary Education Commission.  The Plan 
confirmed our commitment to the Tertiary Education 
Strategy and clearly set out how we contribute to the 
Government’s six priorities. This work continued in 2020. 



UCOL Annual Report 2020  |   14

Outcome 1: UCOL is a Preferred Provider of Learning

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy  
Priority  1 
Delivering skills for industry 

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy 
Priority  2 
Getting at-risk young people 
into a career 

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy 
Priority  6 
Growing international linkages 

The decision to study – and where to study – is a significant one, and it is up to us to show students and industry why that 
choice should be UCOL. In consultation with industry, we continue to refresh the programmes we offer, often introducing 
new qualifications that link in with the regional economic needs of our rohe. This ensures we are responsive, relevant, and 
sustainable. As a result, we are a preferred provider of learning for students and employers.

Our students come to us from many different walks of life – whatever course or style of study they are looking for, we must 
have a range of solutions ready to suit their individual learning journeys. 

Increase Participation in Tertiary Education

 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

To increase the number of domestic EFTS 3,039 3,121 2,811 2,785 3,179

To increase the number of international EFTS 219 209 222 220 270

To increase the number of base SAC level 3 and above EFTS 2,591 2,643 2,399 2,352 2,682

To increase the number of students [individuals] 6,065 6,484 5,786 5,907 6,700

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.

Commentary:
UCOL planned to increase the EFTS delivery in 2020 by around 370 EFTS from what was delivered in 2019. This would have 
been achieved by attracting more school leavers, increasing the in-work market, through blended delivery, and qualification 
completions by previous assessment of prior learning applicants completing further study. However, the number of students 
(individuals) enrolling and the number of total EFTS was lower than planned, with 2,785 EFTS against a target of 3,179 EFTS.  

The EFTS-based targets were challenging for UCOL in a year significantly disrupted by COVID-19. The number of students 
enrolling with UCOL up until the impact of the pandemic was progressing towards achieving the budget. To mitigate the drop 
off in enrolments, several strategies were put in place to ensure as many learners were able to continue to study at UCOL as 
possible. This included:

• Moving our entire portfolio delivery on-line in four weeks.

• Providing extended student support throughout the COVID-19 lockdown period and Alert Level 3 site exclusion periods, 
and when students returned to campus.

• Having our teaching teams implement an increased engagement and contact with our learners either remotely as 
required, or face-to-face when they were able.

• A full and early adoption of IT and hardship support, provided by both UCOL and Government initiatives.

These strategies mitigated our initial expectation of significant student withdrawal from programmes. We also took a 
compassionate approach to students who wanted to transfer their studies from 2020 to 2021. These requests were for a 
number of reasons but primarily related to individual circumstances rather than the programme of study. Independent of 
COVID-19, UCOL continued to review and refine its portfolio so we could offer an enhanced range of qualifications relevant 
to students and employers. 

Throughout 2020, the Centre for Assessment of Prior Learning continued to engage with a diverse range of applicants, with 
initial contact and profiling being able to continue somewhat during COVID-19 lockdown. This included general enquiries, 
submission of evidence for profiling, and preparation for assessment. Applicants were followed up in the remainder of 2020 
to complete submissions of evidence and undertake assessment. The activity for 2020 saw 140 enquiries, 52 of which were 
referred to faculty for possible enrolment instead. 16 individuals went through the full assessment process for part or all 
of a New Zealand Diploma in Business or Bachelor’s Degree (Applied Management). Several are continuing their portfolio 
collation in 2021.
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Increase Participation Rates for Māori, Pasifika, and Under 25s

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 63.5% 63.9% 64.7% 64.3% 66.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 50.7% 52.3% 52.9% 52.0% 50.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 63.4% 64.8% 64.4% 64.1% 63.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 74.1% 73.0% 72.6% 71.7% 72.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 45.5% 69.8% 66.7% 85.7% 64.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 32.2% 32.1% 31.2% 30.5% 33.2%

SAC levels 1 to 3 43.5% 43.3% 41.8% 41.3% 43.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non degree) 32.7% 30.7% 31.7% 30.8% 33.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 22.9% 23.7% 23.7% 23.9% 23.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 41.7% 30.2% 33.3% 14.3% 30.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 5.8% 5.8% 6.1% 7.5% 6.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 7.6% 6.9% 8.8% 10.2% 7.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non degree) 5.6% 6.2% 5.8% 7.4% 4.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 4.4% 4.4% 4.9% 6.1% 5.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 12.8% N/A N/A N/A 6.0%

Under 25 year olds

All SAC levels 58.1% 57.5% 55.3% 55.1% 61.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 63.4% 63.1% 61.4% 62.7% 64.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non degree) 55.0% 55.5% 54.0% 55.0% 59.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 57.3% 55.4% 52.9% 50.9% 59.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 N/A N/A 22.2% N/A N/A

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.
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Commentary:
The number of students leaving school is expected to 
decrease over the term of the Amended 2019-2021 
Investment Plan. UCOL has a high rate of participation 
for Māori, above the proportion of Māori to the overall 
population.  

To be successful UCOL will need to continue to:

• Build on the success of our Te Atakura relationship-
based learning framework.

• Continue to provide an appropriate cultural-based 
learner support system.

• Provide a range of qualifications relevant to students 
and employers.

• Continue to pursue strong relationships with Iwi, Māori 
community and Pasifika.

• Ensure all UCOL tauira are better prepared for 
employment opportunities.

• Engage school leavers to help more transition directly 
into tertiary education.

• Attract people who are already in employment to 
study.

• Attract those not yet in education or employment or 
training.

• Provide ways for our students to remain in tertiary 
education.

UCOL is now more focused on completion rates and 
participation, providing a fully integrated wrap-around 
student support framework. This is based on a student 
success approach, rather than a deficit thinking gap model.

The overall Māori participation rates at UCOL are high, 
reaching 31% of all enrolments in recent years. This 
participation rate is also similar for the Māori under 25 
student demographic, at around 31-32%. Māori students 
enrol on a wide range of programmes offered, with some 
of the more popular ones being exercise, sport science, 
Māori-Pasifika Trades Training (MPTT), hospitality, and 
health programmes including pre-nursing and the nursing 
degree. 

The MPTT funded programme contains a specific 
learner support system, with a work broker assisting 
students while they are studying and preparing them for 
employment. Working in collaboration is the specialist 
Raukura team, which provides cultural and pastoral care, 
as a mobile service, to all Māori students. For many of the 
programmes, the Raukura team undertake the kōrero 
process, an informal interview with students, particularly 
the under 25s, to assess their suitability and readiness for 
study. 

The three larger UCOL campuses have whānau rooms 
and/or wharenui, which play a significant role in student 
support. These act as learning spaces underpinned by 
cultural development activities. Whānau rooms are open 
to all students. 

Also contributing to improved student participation, 
retention, and success is UCOL’s unique Te Atakura 
programme. This is a professional development 
programme that teaches staff to focus on relationship-
based learning. UCOL is also fortunate to have excellent 
support from Iwi across the wider rohe and the depth of 
mātauranga Māori they bring.

Our cohesive approach enables us to allocate resources to 
programmes and learners that need it most. We continued 
to build the capability of our staff to improve student 
success through targeted professional development 
programmes. These include an increased institution-wide 
approach to Te Tiriti o Waitangi obligations, Te Atakura, 
e-learning initiatives, and the cultural mentoring provided 
through Raukura engagement with teaching and general 
staff.

We have improved our ability to track individual students’ 
performance through our use of the Student Attendance 
and Progress Tracking systems. We can now quickly 
identify students who need extra support, assess the 
support requirement, and provide appropriate support, 
thereby enabling more students to stay engaged and 
complete their programmes successfully. This support 
comes from subject matter experts, peer support, 
culturally safe practices in the classroom, our Student 
Success Team, and the specialist Raukura Team. The 
Raukura Team operates as a mobile unit, who are at the 
grassroots every day in faculties since it first started.
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Graduates Enrolling in Further Education

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

All Students

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 38.3% 44.9% 45.1% 43.9% 40.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 35.8% 42.7% 43.0% 44.0% 44.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 42.1% N/A 44.6% 42.6% 48.4%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 36.5% N/A 41.7% 42.9% 42.0%

Māori

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 40.5% 41.3% 46.1% 45.5% 42.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 33.3% 53.6% 48.7% 52.0% 35.0%

Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 48.9% 44.3% 48.1% 52.0% 50.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 40.0% 16.7% 37.5% 20.0% 42.0%

Under 25 Year olds

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 46.7% 46.0% 48.0% 46.8% 47.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 35.8% 42.7% 43.0% 44.0% 44.0%

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.

Commentary:
This measure is monitored to indicate the movement of learners from foundation education qualifications and pre-
apprenticeship learning to higher levels at UCOL or other Tertiary Education Organisations. UCOL did not achieve target in 
every measure in 2020, and only in a smaller number of groups did our performance from 2019 improve (Youth Guarantee 
and Pasifika learners). The improved outcomes achieved in 2020 for Youth Guarantee funded learners (compared to 2019) 
reflected the efforts made to get these priority learners into higher levels of study. 

Overall the focus for 2020 was on keeping our currently enrolled students on track with their learning in a significantly 
disrupted year of study. The interim results are also likely to be lower for 2020 due to the lower number of reported results 
at the time of the Annual Report being produced.

Stakeholder Feedback
Commentary:
Stakeholder feedback provides UCOL with evidence that we are meeting the needs of our employers and that our 
stakeholder engagement processes are working. In 2020, there has been more emphasis on gathering and integrating this 
feedback as a part of our ‘business as usual’ interactions with stakeholders. This occurs across all portfolios throughout the 
year. 

Particular projects where stakeholder feedback has been a key requirement included the development of the Centre of 
Healthcare and Social Assistance, UCOL’s Blended Delivery Strategy, UCOL’s Property Strategy, campaign engagement 
(for example new programme developments and special projects), UCOL’s 2021-2022 Strategic Transition Plan, and in our 
programme advisory groups. 

UCOL regularly seeks feedback from students during student meetings and via surveys.
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Applications for UCOL’s U-Skills Trades Academy hit 
1,000 for the first time in 2020, with new community 
partnerships providing secondary school students with 
greater access to vocational education.

U-Skills Academy programmes enable year 11 to 13 
students to attend UCOL (or a UCOL-approved site) one-
day-a-week to develop industry-relevant skills, while also 
earning NCEA credits.  Launched in 2012, U-Skills has 
grown into one of the top trade academies in the country, 
with great support from schools across the regions 
including Whanganui, Manawatū, Tararua, Horowhenua, 
and Wairarapa.   

The programmes range from trades to hospitality to 
business and introduce students to subjects they can study 
fulltime at UCOL.

2020 was the first year in which UCOL received over 1,000 
U-Skills applications, with 752 of those students accepted. 
Some applicants were placed onto waitlists because the 
programmes they applied for were so popular, while 
others decided to learn at school full-time or enter the 
workforce.    

The New Zealand Police Pathway programme was a 
popular new offering for 2020 after local police and 
Palmerston North Boys’ High School approached UCOL 
about incorporating it into U-Skills. 

“The Police Pathway programme had been on our radar, 
as it is offered by other trades academies around New 
Zealand. The local police would normally facilitate it in 
multiple schools, so by making it part of U-Skills it has 
become accessible for more students,” says UCOL Schools 
Partnerships Manager Hayden Robinson. 

Students in the programme were taught about 
interviewing, mental health/crisis support, arrest 
techniques, the different departments within the police 
force, and the police recruitment process.

The programme has proven so popular that 50 students 
have already applied for 2021.

UCOL also formed a new partnership with Manfeild Park 
Trust to teach the Infrastructure Works programme on-
site at Manfeild in Feilding. There, students were able 
to get hands-on with the tools and machinery used for 
infrastructure works in the park’s road work simulation 
area.

UCOL was already teaching the Infrastructure Works in 
partnership with Downer in Oringi (south of Dannevirke), 
so the new arrangement with Manfeild meant that two 
classes could be taught.

The U-Skills Academy has grown considerably since it first 
launched with 81 students in 2012. Robinson credits that 
growth to secondary school students wanting to see what 
opportunities are out there and the schools catering to 
that.

“Students are looking for that out-of-school learning 
experience and the chance to learn more about vocational 
pathways. Plus there is the added benefit of them earning 
NCEA credits.”

The U-Skills Trades Academy will continue to expand 
in 2021 with the addition of new programmes in Game 
Development, and Plumbing, Gas-Fitting and Drain-
Laying. Students will also be able to complete full Level 3 
certificate programmes in Animal Care, Commercial Road 
Transport, and Conservation.

The Ministry of Education, recognising the success of 
U-Skills, has increased its number of funded places from 
630 to 690 for 2021. 

Over 1,000 
Applications in  
Big Year For 
U-Skills
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Outcome 2: Our Students Succeed 

 Tertiary Education Strategy  
Priority  1  
Delivering skills for industry 

 Tertiary Education Strategy 
Priority 2  
Getting at-risk young people 
into a career

 Tertiary Education Strategy 
Priority 3 
Boosting achievement of Māori  

 Tertiary Education Strategy 
Priority 4 
Boosting achievement of 
Pasifika  

 Tertiary Education Strategy 
Priority 5 
Improving literacy and 
numeracy 

We know that to ensure students succeed academically, a student’s wellbeing must be supported. This is done through our 
Student Success Strategy 2019-2022, which is focused on understanding the student life-cycle, offering early intervention and 
learning support, helping students build their employability, and assessing how our strategies are performing.

Student Satisfaction Surveys
We will continue to measure students’ satisfaction while they are studying and as they move into employment.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Actual Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

Student Satisfaction Survey

Semester 1 73.0% 74% 83% N/A* 75%

Semester 2 84.0% 86% 77% 87% 86%

RateMyQual - MyQ

Students in paid employment six months after graduating 71% N/A N/A 72.75% 72%

Students who believe their qualification prepared them for 
work

91% N/A N/A 93.25% 90%

Student Experience

Students’ overall experience New measure New measure New measure 71.08%

Students felt welcome at UCOL New measure New measure New measure 89.09%

Students likely to recommend UCOL to their friends/family New measure New measure New measure 78.18%

Student Services Levy Survey

Students agreeing with what the SSL is spent on New measure New measure New measure 93%

*Not complete in semester 1 2020 due to COVID-19.
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Below is the statistics for the Tōku Reo (Student Satisfaction Survey)

Total sample 
(# of students) 
from UCOL

Participation 
Rate

Number 
of survey 
completes

Response Rate

S1 - 2017 2,800 630 23.0%

S2 - 2017 1,300 41.4% 352 27.1%

S1 - 2018 2,974 37.1% 698 23.5%

S2 - 2018 1,938 26.8% 266 13.7%

SI - 2019 2,678 27.6% 543 20.3%

S2 - 2019 1,415 23.2% 239 16.9%

S1 - 2020 No survey (COVID-19)

S2 - 2020 882 24.8% 155 17.6%

Commentary:
The Tōku Reo (Student Satisfaction Survey) surveys initial student experience (‘first impressions’) each semester for those 
enrolled for the first time. The focus is on preparation for study and learning. A significant strength that was identified in 
2020’s second semester survey was the level of support UCOL staff provided to students. 

The MyQ survey enables us to track our graduates success in finding work and how prepared they felt for employment. Each 
year UCOL encourages graduates to complete this independent survey. Results are cumulative – for 2020 it showed that 
72.75% of the students who completed the survey were in employment within six months of their graduation. 93.25% of 
students felt that their qualification had prepared them for work.

The Student Experience survey was a new initiative to gather students’ views on their overall experience at UCOL in 2020, 
sent to everyone who studied at UCOL that year. Out of the 166 students who completed the survey:

1. 71% of students felt ‘Very Satisfied’ or ‘Satisfied’ with their overall experience at UCOL, with 12% of students feeling 
‘Dissatisfied’ or ‘Very Dissatisfied.’ 

2. 89% of students felt welcome at UCOL, with 2.42% feeling otherwise. Some of the most common suggestions to improve 
the students’ welcoming experience at UCOL include:

• Additional academic support.

• Better communication with students.

• Sufficient signage around campus.

• More interactive events for students.

3. 76% of students felt UCOL’s response to COVID-19 was ‘Excellent’ or ‘Good’, with 5.56% of students rating it as ‘Poor’ or 
‘Very Bad.’

4. 66% of students felt generally well-informed about events and updates at UCOL, with 9% of students feeling otherwise. 
Some of the most common suggestions to improve this student experience include:

• More signage/posters/news boards around campus.

• Increased use of social media for updates.

• Increased use of text messages for updates.

5. While the majority of students remember receiving updates primarily through UCOL’s student intranet and the 
newsletter, they prefer receiving updates through text messages the most. This is followed by the UCOL newsletter and 
announcements made in class. 

6. 78% of students are likely to recommend UCOL to their friends and family, but 6% of students were not likely to do so. 

Students were also consulted on the services offered through the Compulsory Student Services Levy, with 186 responses. 
93% of respondents agree with the services provided. When asked how this levy had benefitted them, respondents cited the 
following reasons: 

• Ensures a supportive and stress-free environment.
• Meets student specific needs.
• Benefits students facing financial hardships.
• Increases student interaction.
• Improves employability.
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Student Course Completions

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

All Students

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 78.2% 75.1% 78.5% 70.6% 79.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 75.7% 86.0% 79.4% 59.1% 85.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 80.5% 79.2% 82.4% 74.9% 82.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 76.7% 89.8% 83.6% 63.0% 85.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 72.1% 68.0% 71.1% 62.9% 73.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 68.0% 77.6% 68.1% 41.9% 79.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 75.2% 66.2% 66.7% 59.2% 77.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 89.6% 86.6% 100.0% 100.0% 91.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC levels 77.6% 73.3% 77.7% 69.6% 79.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 75.7% 86.0% 79.4% 59.1% 85.0%

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.
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Commentary:
The significantly lower Course Completion achievement 
in 2020 (compared to targets and past achievement) is a 
result of students’ motivation, participation and learning 
being disrupted early in their programmes due to the 
COVID-19 lockdown. The outcome ultimately was a 
reduction in overall assessment achievement.  

The impact is notably greater for Youth Guarantee 
(YG), Level 1 to Level 3 funded learners. The access for 
these younger learners to our YG support staff changed 
entirely to phone calls, social media and email. Given 
that this happened during the critical early stages of their 
programmes, we have identified that they did not cement 
the strong interpersonal connections that keep them in 
learning. The impact was greatest for our Māori YG funded 
learners. 

We also identified that during and immediately after the 
COVID-19 lockdown, the change in household income 
meant that some learners had to stop learning and look 
for employment instead.

Where learners remained engaged in online or distance 
learning alternatives, on their return to campus, we put 
in place a range of approaches to ensure that curriculum 
was suitably covered. Assessments were also extended for 
many courses. 

When compared to students in year-long programmes that 
started mid-year 2019, the latter remained better engaged 
in learning, with much of their programme already 
completed by late March 2020.  These learners were 
some of the priority individuals participating in our on-site 
practical classes permitted at Alert Level 3. It was noted 
that these students were more focussed and achieved well 
in final practical classes and assessments. 

Our interim Course Completion data will lift slightly as 
the results of assessment extensions are completed and 
reported. 

Despite the difficulties of 2020, we actively engaged 
with all learners, with a focus on priority learners. This 
engagement occurred throughout the year with varied 
methods, depending on our ability to teach on campus.

To support our learners we:

• Continued to support teachers through Te Atakura, 
our relationship-based learning framework. This is a 
culturally responsive model that was introduced to 
raise parity between Māori and non-Māori students.

• Offered education in ways that match a student’s 
learning preference, including growing blended 
delivery (online, on campus, on job) and assessment of 
prior learning.

• Provided relevant orientation, educational tools, and 
support services for students during 2020 including 
during COVID-19 enforced campus closures.
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Students are Retained in Study

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

All Students

All SAC levels 72.2% 74.9% 73.9% 80.4% 74.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 57.2% 60.3% 64.8% 68.6% 67.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 78.9% 79.3% 75.7% 82.5% 84.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 80.8% 77.3% 74.8% 83.1% 85.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 61.2% 61.3% 64.9% 70.9% 67.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 80.6% 82.7% 77.0% 85.5% 86.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 66.0% 70.8% 72.4% 70.8% 68.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 47.8% 63.6% 66.7% 50.0% 64.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 74.7% 72.2% 73.1% 73.4% 77.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 67.7% 56.0% 57.9% 85.2% 69.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 50.0% 33.3% 50.0% 100.0% 88.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 73.9% 63.2% 58.8% 82.6% 88.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC levels 74.9% 75.8% 72.9% 81.1% 79.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 74.9% 69.8% 69.2% 70.3% 79.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 79.8% 77.3% 73.6% 83.0% 83.0%

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.

Commentary:
Retention measures the proportion of students who are retained in study after their first year of study. It only measures 
students who have enrolled in qualifications that are longer than one year and are at level 4 or above. Students at UCOL 
have traditionally returned to continue/complete their studies and this has been shown again in 2020. Overall 80.4% of 
students returned at the start of this year to complete their studies, against a target of 74%. This was also mirrored in a 
number of our priority learner categories, including under 25s, and Pasifika learners, both of which reported interim figures 
higher than targets. Our under 25 learners performed well in all SAC levels, particularly in level 7 degrees. Pasifika students 
performed well at all SAC levels, especially in levels 4-7 non-degree programmes. Our Māori learners did not meet target for 
both non-degree and degree level studies, although at the degree level this was slightly higher than in 2019 results. The sub 
degree drop-off may be attributed to both a higher number of students moving into employment prior to completion and 
also the impact of COVID-19, with some students potentially needing to prioritise caring for their families.  

Progression of these indicators over the last four years shows that UCOL’s commitment to a long term strategy of student 
retention and higher level qualification achievement has been effective.
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Qualification Completions

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

All Students

All SAC levels 62.5% 67.0% 66.2% 66.2% 64.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 71.9% 71.1% 81.2% 75.6% 80.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 64.2% 71.0% 71.9% 69.4% 66.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 73.3% 73.8% 84.9% 74.2% 81.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 58.2% 60.8% 55.7% 59.6% 60.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 65.2% 62.2% 75.0% 76.9% 77.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 58.1% 61.2% 57.3% 62.9% 60.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 54.5% 71.4% 72.7% 100.0% 88.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC levels 60.7% 64.5% 65.5% 67.3% 62.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 71.9% 71.1% 81.2% 75.6% 80.0%

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.

Commentary:
Qualification completion is the proportion of students in a starting cohort who subsequently complete a qualification at 
the same level at UCOL. The learner may complete the qualification they originally enrolled in or another at the same level. 
Therefore, these results include the completion of a qualification by learners who enrolled in something different in a 
previous year. 

UCOL students, and graduates, are actively encouraged to progress to higher level study – either at the end of their study at 
UCOL, or once they leave the organisation for up to a period of six years (the formula for this calculation). In most categories, 
the SAC level students at UCOL have exceeded the target for qualification completions. Of particular note is the under 25s 
who exceeded target by 5% at all SAC levels, and our Pasifika learners who exceeded target by 3% at all SAC levels. 

This outcome is due to the high levels of student pastoral care and learning support UCOL offered, and is also due to staff 
following up with learners who were not successful in their original enrolment. This effort re-engages people after they 
have had an initial return to learning (older learners) and who are now better prepared for study.  The efforts of our staff in 
maintaining our 2020 students in shorter programmes (e.g. 40, 60 and 120 credits) during COVID-19 will mitigate a potential 
reduction in this measure for 2021.
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Expected Graduates
This is a new measure for 2019 to 2021. Expected graduates is an estimate of the number of qualifications that we expect to 
award.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2020

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 New measure 455 348 556

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 90 66 116

Māori

SAC levels 1 to 3 New measure 317 265 311

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 39 30 33

Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 New measure 56 58 57

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 8 5 7

Under 25 Year olds

SAC levels 1 to 3 New measure 458 365 431

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 134 99 134

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2020 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2020 in the 2021 Annual Report.
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Only a few years out of her diploma, and Sahiba Kaur 
is working on the frontlines of New Zealand’s COVID-19 
response. A laboratory technician, Sahiba is part of a 
specialist team responsible for virus testing.

“I moved to New Zealand to study in 2016. I’m originally 
from Himachal Pradesh, India. I was looking for something 
to do with laboratory science, but I didn’t want to do a 
big degree; I wanted to keep it short. So I chose UCOL’s 
National Diploma in Science (Level 5 & 6) - it was a two 
year course, more practical and very hands-on.”

When Sahiba graduated in 2017, she was thrilled to be 
offered a job almost immediately.

“I got a position working for MedLab Central right after I 
finished my diploma, working in their specimen services 
team. After five or six months they were impressed and 
promoted me to the micro department. They offered to 
help me study further with their in-house programme, and 
now I am a fully registered Medical Laboratory Technician.”

When New Zealand’s COVID-19 response started ramping 
up, there were limitations to the testing that was possible 
– which lead to the creation of MedLab Central’s own 
COVID-19 testing laboratory. “It was a pretty interesting 
start! An email came around the office, talking about how 
they were thinking about setting up a new lab, and asked 
for volunteers who had experience with pipette work. I 
was well-practised with that from my UCOL study, so I put 
my name forward to help. I didn’t hear anything for a few 
days, then suddenly there was a message on Sunday to 
start on Monday!”

“I was nervous to start, but I feel really proud to be a part 
of this team. We’ve been working pretty much every day to 
get the testing done, dividing it into manageable day and 
night shifts.”

Sahiba isn’t the only UCOL connection in the lab either – 
Dr Rebecca Lucas-Roxburgh, the lead scientist, is a UCOL 
Applied Sciences lecturer.

 “Rebecca and Dr Bob, who was my UCOL lecturer – they’re 
such amazing people. The success of who we are is thanks 
to them - whatever I am now, is because of them. My study 
made such a huge difference to my skills, and I see I made 
the right choice picking UCOL.”

While Sahiba hopes that the COVID-19 testing lab isn’t a 
permanent fixture, she’s pleased to have been a part of it.

 “I hope this is a once in a lifetime opportunity, and it’s 
never needed again – but it’s been amazing to learn, and to 
give back.”

UCOL Graduate 
and Lecturer 
Working 
Together in 
COVID  
Testing Lab



UCOL Annual Report 2020  |   27

For three UCOL automotive students, the Māori and 
Pasifika Trades Training (MPTT) has given them the chance 
to turn a one year certificate into careers they are thrilled 
with. 

Jadyn Thornby-Reid, Kane Mourad, and Liam Hamilton-
Church are celebrating landing full-time apprenticeships 
with Wanganui Toyota and Engine Rebuilders.

“I’ve always been into cars, and at the start of the year my 
girlfriend gave me the hard word and said I needed to do 
something,” says Liam. “I’d been getting in trouble with the 
law, so decided to shift up to Whanganui, move in with my 
Dad, and give myself a real chance. I saw the New Zealand 
Certificate in Automotive Engineering on UCOL’s website 
and it was easy – I was enrolled in 30 minutes.”

For Liam, UCOL’s MPTT initiative has made a huge 
difference to his study. “It’s not just the scholarship itself, 
which covered all my course fees. During lockdown they 
provided me with a tablet so I could keep studying at 
home, they’ve helped cover the cost of a good internet 
connection, our overalls and boots, even the cost to get my 
restricted and forklift licenses. Kelly’s working on getting us 
full toolkits – people don’t realise that’s usually a couple of 
grand right there.”

“I was dreading the costs when I decided to study. If I 
had known that MPTT was around, I would have told my 
younger self to get back to school way sooner.”

The support from MPTT isn’t just financial though. Kelly 
Johnston, UCOL’s Kaituhono Mahi Kaiarataki, says that 
their focus is on building work-ready graduates who have 
high expectations for themselves. “It’s about giving our 
students the best opportunities we can, and creating a 
mindset of ‘qualification first’ – get that, and then you can 
go anywhere.”

“We work with local organisations like 100% Sweet 
to run training and regular workshops on all sorts of 
skills, and we collaborate with industry partners and iwi 
leaders,” says Kelly Johnston. “There’s specialist days and 
employment events - students outside of MPTT see how 
motivated our students are, and they’re encouraged to 
take part as well.”

Jadyn found that this approach was embedded throughout 
the programme. “Our tutor Johan was amazing,” says 
Jadyn. “He’s easy to approach and there’s a lot of banter. 
He explained to us what bosses are looking for, how to 
approach them about work experience, and not to ever 
give up, even if we got a no – we had to keep looking.”

That wisdom had a big impact on Jadyn and Kane, who 
have turned work experience with Wanganui Toyota into 
full apprenticeships. “It’s pretty amazing – it means I don’t 
have to work another part-time job as well,” says Jadyn. “I 
can just focus on my field.”

“Originally Wanganui Toyota only had one apprenticeship 
position available. We were a bit freaked out but by the 
end of our placement, the Workshop Manager Shane 
Jordan decided he was so impressed, he created a second 
role so they could keep us both.”

So what does the future look like? For Jadyn and Kane 
they’re signed on with a seven-year Toyota contract, an 
opportunity to fully develop their skills with an industry 
leader. For Liam, he’s looking forward to smashing out 
his apprenticeship work and following it up with further 
study in machining and engine reconditioning. “It was 
my favourite thing I learn about this year, and working at 
Engine Rebuilders has just confirmed it. My boss Tim is 
great at teaching, and all the guys want to help me learn. 
I’ve found my calling, and I know it’s what I want to do.”

Students Land  
Long Term 
Success with 
Māori and 
Pasifika Trades 
Training Initiative
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Chelsea Parlato, a graduate of UCOL’s Diploma of Beauty 
Therapy, opened her salon, Beauty & the Beach, on 13 July 
2020.

While getting to this impressive milestone has been 
Parlato’s dream for a long time, it has happened sooner 
than she expected.

“After I finished my studies last year, I started working 
at a salon in Palmerston North,” says Parlato. “It was a 
good job, but coronavirus came along and we went into 
lockdown and they couldn’t keep me on.”

“I had money saved up for a trip to New York this year, 
but obviously that wasn’t possible, so I decided to put the 
money into my salon. I always wanted to have my own 
salon, especially in Foxton Beach because I love living out 
here. I just never thought I’d be doing it this soon!”

Beauty & the Beach will offer makeup and beauty services 
including waxing, facials, massages, manicures, pedicures, 
and eyebrow and eyelash treatments. 

“Most of the treatments are the foundations of what we 
learnt at UCOL. I asked friends and family what they would 
come to a salon for and ended up with the classic ‘pamper 
yourself’ kind of salon.”

“I want to give the people here in Foxton another option to 
treat themselves – without having to travel into Palmerston 
North. With all of my manicures and pedicures, you get 
a free cup of coffee to go with the experience. I’m trying 
to provide a little bit more than you would get in other 
places.”

News of the salon opening has already generated a buzz.

“From my first posts on Instagram and Facebook I’ve 
already had more people than I expected messaging me 
for different services.”

Parlato says her UCOL studies have helped not only with 
her beauty skills but also with the ins and outs of setting 
up a business. 

“We did a few business papers which really helped me with 
writing my business plan, identifying a target audience, 
and the admin side of things like setting up accounts with 
suppliers. I’ve even used a couple of suppliers who we 
signed up with while at UCOL.”

Beauty Graduate Opening  
Salon in Foxton Beach
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Outcome 3: We Collaborate with Key Stakeholders

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy  
Priority  1 
Delivering skills for industry  

 Tertiary   Education  Strategy  
Priority  2 
Getting at-risk young people 
into a career

Collaboration makes the work we do greater than the sum of its parts. By maintaining strong industry connections we 
can develop the best qualifications for our students, and work-ready graduates for local organisations. In turn, our wider 
stakeholders can help us understand where our regions are heading and find pathways for our graduates to succeed. 

Above all others, students are our most crucial stakeholder - no-one can tell us their needs better than them.

Our Programmes Reflect our Collaboration with Stakeholders 
We increase the number of programmes offered to students that have an industry engagement component, leading to 
better education relevancy for employers.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim Target

2019 2020 2020

Proportion of programmes with an industry engagement component:

Health and Sciences 93.0% 98% 75%

Humanities and Business 67.0% 95% 75%

Trades and Applied Technologies 79.3% 91% 75%

Commentary:
To achieve excellent employment outcomes for students and employers, many of our programme offerings include an 
industry engagement component, reflecting our pedagogy. This new key performance indicator was introduced in 2019 to 
measure the proportion of programmes that include this component. 

Our key stakeholders (students and employers) benefit from a contextualised vocational training experience. We know this 
is best met by having work-ready graduates, who have as much of their learning occurring as it would in work – either on 
campus in a simulated manner, or through ‘on the job’ real life experience. All three of our faculties have met this challenge, 
with over 90% of all programmes having industry engagement. 

All of UCOL’s programmes going forward are expected to provide an industry engagement component. This is defined in 
the Teaching and Learning Strategy 2020-2022 as work integrated learning that includes: team-based project work, research 
projects, industry-led projects, student interaction with practitioners (on campus or remotely), simulation, placements, or 
internships.

The target for work-based learning is set high and reflects UCOL’s commitment to on the job training. Within our blended 
delivery focus, this complements our on campus and online learning.
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An idea born in 1919 has been carried forward by Taratahi 
once again. When Sir William Perry gifted a piece of land 
for the training of servicemen returning from World War 
I, little did he know that 101 years later, Taratahi would be 
proudly welcoming New Zealand veterans once again.

Partnering with the Ministry of Primary Industries, UCOL 
staff at Taratahi hosted New Zealand veterans on a week-
long Taster workshop. Each day offered them insights into 
what could be their next career option.

“The group included veterans from the Navy, Army, and Air 
Force, so as you can imagine, it led to a huge amount of 
light-hearted banter between them all!” says Simon Bailey, 
UCOL Team Leader – Primary Industries.

The veteran group started at the training centre, where 
their first few days were filled with a range of farming 
activities – from milking cattle to fixing fences.

“They are probably not going to look at the fence the same 
way ever again,” adds Bailey, after a session on how to tie 
off and strain a fence wire correctly.

The lessons continued on to cover farming vehicles such 
as tractors, frontend loaders, quad bikes, and light utility 
vehicles (LUV). The group was taken through safety, 
maintenance, and pre-start checks as well as advice on 
how to drive them on various terrain.

Not all jobs on the farm are quite as much fun, but the 
hard-working group also spent some time learning how to 
dag sheep at Glenside.

“There’s a pretty amazing view up the top of the farm 
which the group were lucky enough to see, you get the 
whole vista of the Wairarapa Valley stretching out in front 
of you, from Mt Bruce in the north to Ocean Beach in the 
south, simply stunning on a good day,” says Bailey.

The final day was spent introducing the group to the basics 
of apiculture (beekeeping).

“This has been a hugely successful opportunity for both 
veterans and our team at Taratahi. They got to share 
experiences from both a farming and military perspective, 
which led to a newfound respect for each other. It is 
always great when everyone learns something new. It has 
also shown how our training farm can help veterans, in 
exactly the spirit it was originally intended for,” says Bailey.

Veterans Affairs Project Advisor Brett Te Wheoro was also 
very pleased with the week’s results.

“We had a mix of veterans of all ages, representing service 
from as far back as Malaya to recent deployments to 
Afghanistan,” says Te Wheoro.

“There was something for everybody and the ‘taster’ aspect 
of the course meant that we got to try out different types 
of farming and a range of new skills.”

“A few of the veterans are already keen to come back for 
the longer beekeeping course. We really appreciated that 
this course was put on for us - the staff at Taratahi went 
out of their way during our time there. A big thanks to the 
Ministry of Primary Industries and UCOL for making this 
pilot course possible.”

NZ Veterans Get a Taste of 
Farming at Taratahi



UCOL Annual Report 2020  |   31

A key partner in the region’s post COVID journey to 
prosperity, UCOL has teamed up with the Manawatu, 
Whanganui, and Wairarapa Chambers of Commerce to 
offer free qualifications to improve the capabilities of local 
businesses.

The Chamber scholarships are available for UCOL’s 
Diploma in Business, and graduate diploma programmes 
in project management, business information systems, ICT, 
and operations and production management. Chamber 
of Commerce members who enrol in one of these 
programmes between 23 November and 18 December will 
receive a full scholarship to cover all programme fees. 

The scholarships are only available to Chamber Members 
(and their employees), with a cap of 200 scholarships on 
offer. 

This has been created in recognition of the challenges 
the current economic situation has created for local 
businesses in Palmerston North, Whanganui, Wairarapa, 
and Horowhenua (who can be eligible through the 
Manawatu Chamber of Commerce). The local Chamber 
network sustains and nurtures regional businesses, and 
forms the backbone of local economies. 

“UCOL recognises the challenges facing small businesses 
and our regional industries,” says UCOL’s Chief Executive 
Dr Linda Sissons. “UCOL is offering the 100% scholarship to 
Chamber members as an initiative to assist in the ‘survive, 
revive and thrive goals’ of the Manawatū-Whanganui 
Economic Recovery Taskforce.”

“These scholarships are targeted at courses that will 
develop and grow the existing talent and skills in our rohe, 
ensuring our workforce is future fit and able to meet the 
recruitment demands being created by large projects 
coming to our region.”

“The value of lifelong learning cannot be understated, 
but at the same time, UCOL recognises that professional 
development can be a high cost, particularly for small 
businesses. The courses included have been specifically 
selected to ensure they address the needs of industry, 
will allow employees to work whilst studying, and ensure 
that at the end of their training, participants receive a 
qualification that supports their personal growth.”

“This is a hugely generous offer,” said Amanda Linsley, 
CEO of the Manawatu Chamber of Commerce. “It’s a great 
initiative that will help to develop much needed middle 
management skills across our region, a win-win for our 
businesses and their employees.”

UCOL and Chamber of Commerce 
Offering 100% Scholarships for 
Local Businesses
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Outcome 4: We are a High Performing Tertiary Education Institute

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy  
Priority  1 
Delivering skills for industry

 Tertiary  Education  Strategy  
Priority  6 
Strengthening Research-based 
institutions 

By being a high performing and enduring organisation, we ensure we can deliver on our regions’ aspirations. This 
performance is defined in many ways: we must be an excellent educator; a great employer with an engaged workforce; and 
good stewards of the resources entrusted to us.

We are a High Quality Institute
We increase the number of programmes offered to students that have an industry engagement component, leading to 
better education relevancy for employers.

 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Actual Target

2017 2018 2019 2020 2020

Category assessed by External Evaluation and Review - - - N/A  
(Due 2021) 

Category 1

Proportion of teaching staff with CATA* or equivalent 80.7% 68.9% 63.3% 82% 82%

Proportion of academic staff recognised as fellows or 
experts

22.6% 25.1% 23.3% 24% 24%

* New Zealand Certificate in Adult and Tertiary Teaching

Commentary:
Our next scheduled Targeted Evaluation will be carried out in 2021. This is NZQA’s interim replacement of the External 
Evaluation and Review (EER) process, implemented with the implementation of Te Pūkenga. 

The additional measures reflect the quality of our teaching staff between external reviews. The proportions of staff holding 
a New Zealand Certificate in Adult and Tertiary Teaching (CATA) or equivalent is dependent on voluntary staff turnover 
remaining at similar levels to the current 5% per annum.
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We are Financially Sustainable
We aim to be a viable and sustainable organisation.  We measure our risk profile against the TEC’s Financial Monitoring 
Framework (FMF), seeking a ‘low risk’ rating throughout.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Actual Target

2018 2019 2020 2020

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

Viability risk as measured under the FMF (>3) Low Low Low Low 

Sustainability risk as measured under the FMF (>3) Low Low Low Low 

Overall risk rating under the FMF Low Low Low Low 

Operating surplus before abnormal items 2.9% (1.4%) 0.2% 3.0%

Net cash flows from operations 107.8% 108.2% 102.6% 112.6%

Liquid Funds Ratio 20.8% 22.4% 14.23% 30.3%

Commentary:
The financial information for this measure is collected by the Tertiary Education Commission as part of its monitoring 
framework and reported mid-year after the Annual Report is prepared.  As a result, an interim measure (and prior-year 
comparative) will be reported in the Annual Report and a final result will be reported in the following Annual Report.  

To meet this target we will continue to:

• Aspire for a 3% return on revenue, with a minimum of 1%, allowing reinvestment in our organisation and our assets; and 

• Manage the property and equipment we own to ensure we hold the right assets for our current programmes.

Staff are Engaged in Our Organisation
Staff engagement is an important part of being a high performing institute. Throughout the year, staff across the campuses 
come together in two annual events, the Annual Staff Welcome in January and the Staff Symposium in July.  Both of these 
events engage staff in workshops and with speakers on key priority areas. This enables us to share collective thinking with 
one another, and offers feedback opportunities. In addition, there are monthly team engagement sessions on each campus, 
providing the Executive Leadership Team and staff the opportunity to connect and raise any topics. 

During 2020 COVID-19 had a significant impact on our daily lives. During the higher alert levels, additional engagement 
opportunities and communications were created to help staff connect with each other and stay informed. In May, a UCOL-
wide survey was conducted to get staff feedback on how we had handled the evolving situation. For each alert level, staff felt 
that UCOL’s response was as follows:

• Level 4 – 95% felt our response was very good, good or adequate (with 54% saying ‘very good’)

• Level 3 – 98% felt our response was very good, good or adequate (with 53% saying ‘very good’)

• Level 2 – 91% felt our response was very good, good or adequate (with 38% saying ‘very good’)
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Cost of Services
We provide services in one output class, Tertiary Education. As a result, the costs of this output class match the costs of the 
entire organisation.

 $000s
Actual Actual Target

2019* 2020 2020

Revenue 46,275 50,791 52,592

Expenditure

Educational Delivery 25,338 27,120 23,955

Educational Support 18,003 19,200 23,070

Depreciation 3,570 4,335 3,963

Interest 19 19 29

Total Expenditure 46,930 50,674 51,017

Surplus/(Deficit) before Abnormal Items (655) 117 1,575

Abnormal Items 536 240 98

Surplus/(Deficit) (1,191) (123) 1,477

Prospective information is provided using estimates and assumptions about future economic, environmental, and regulatory 
conditions in which we will operate. The key assumption relates to the level of government funding to be received as outlined in our 
2019-2021 Investment Plan. Actual outcomes may vary from those forecast due to differences in the conditions that eventuate.

• The 2019 comparative information relates to UCOL the predecessor of UCOL Limited.
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HE PŪRONGO TĀTARI KAUTE 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
To the readers of Universal College 
of Learning Limited and group’s 
financial statements and statement 
of service performance for the period 
ended 31 December 2020 
The Auditor General is the auditor of Universal College of 
Learning Limited (the company) and group. The Auditor 
General has appointed me, Stephen Usher, using the 
staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the 
audit of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance of the company and group on his behalf. 

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the company and group 
on pages 39 to 81, that comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, 
the statement of comprehensive revenue and 
expense, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and statement of accounting policies for 
the period ended on that date, and the notes to the 
financial statements that include other explanatory 
information; and

• the statement of service performance of the company 
and group on pages 13 to 34. 

Qualified opinion – Our work was 
limited over the carrying value of 
building assets
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter 
described in the Basis for our qualified opinion section of 
our report: 

• the financial statements of the company and group on 
pages 39 to 81:

 » present fairly, in all material respects:

 - the financial position as at 31 December 2020; 
and

 - the financial performance and cash flows for the 
period then ended; and

 » comply with generally accepted accounting practice 
in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit 
Entity Reporting Standards; and

• the statement of service performance on pages 13 to 
34:

 » presents fairly, in all material respects, the company 
and group’s service performance achievements 
as compared with the forecast outcomes included 
in the investment plan for the year ended 31 
December 2020; and

 » complies with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 30 April 2021. This is the date 
at which our qualified opinion is expressed.

The basis for our qualified opinion is explained below, and 
we draw your attention to other matters. In addition, we 
outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and 
our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, 
we comment on other information, and we explain our 
independence.
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Basis for our qualified opinion
As disclosed in note 10, the UCOL and group measures its 
building assets at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. The reported carrying value of 
buildings as at 31 December 2020 is $63.8 million (1 April 
2020 $66.5 million). Public Benefit Entity International Public 
Sector Accounting Standard 17 Property Plant and Equipment 
requires assets measured at fair value to be revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from its fair value. The last 
valuation accounted for was as at 31 December 2018. 

UCOL has identified that the Manawatu and Whanganui 
Campus buildings require seismic remediation to meet 
earthquake service and function requirements. The level 
of remediation work and the associated costs are not yet 
known. These costs could be substantial. The carrying 
value of the buildings as at 31 December 2020 does not 
reflect this required remediation work. Consequently, we 
are unable to determine if the carrying value of buildings 
is materially different to their fair value and the amount of 
any fair value adjustment that would be recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive revenue and expense. This 
matter consequently affects the cost of service statement 
presented on page 34.

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor 
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of 
our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with 
the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of matters
Without further modifying our opinion, we draw your 
attention to:

Te Pūkenga subsidiaries to exist until 31 December 2022 
Basis of preparation on page 40 outlines that all Te 
Pūkenga subsidiaries will continue in existence until 31 
December 2022. There have been no changes to the 
financial statements as the rights, assets, and liabilities of 
the company will be transferred to Te Pūkenga. 

Impact of Covid 19 
Note 22 on page 79 outlines the impact of Covid 19 on the 
company and group. 

Responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors for the financial statements 
and the statement of service 
performance
The Board of Directors is responsible on behalf of the 
company and group for preparing financial statements 
that are fairly presented and that comply with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

The Board of Directors is also responsible on behalf of the 
company and group for preparing a statement of service 
performance that is fairly presented and that complies 
with generally accepted accounting practice in New 
Zealand.

The Board of Directors is responsible for such internal 
control as it determines is necessary to enable it to 
prepare financial statements and a statement of service 
performance that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance, the Board of Directors is responsible 
on behalf of the company and group for assessing the 
company and group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The Board of Directors is also responsible for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless 
the Board of Directors intends to liquidate the company 
and group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the 
Education and Training Act 2020 and the Crown Entities 

Act 2004.
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Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements and 
the statement of service performance
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance, as a whole, are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance 
with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts 
or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. 
Misstatements are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis 
of these financial statements and statement of service 
performance.

For the budget information reported in the financial 
statements and the statement of service performance, our 
procedures were limited to checking that the information 
agreed to the company and group’s:

• approved budget for the financial statements; and

• investment plan for the statement of service 
performance. 

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the 
electronic publication of the financial statements and the 
statement of service performance. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor 
General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements and the 
statement of service performance, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• We obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company and group’s internal 
control.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 
of Directors.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of 
the going concern basis of accounting by the Board of 
Directors and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company and group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the company and group to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements and the statement 
of service performance, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements and the statement 
of service performance represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial statements and the statement 
of service performance of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements and the 
consolidated statement of service performance. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included on pages 1 to 12, 35 to 38 and 82 to 
83, but does not include the financial statements and the 
statement of service performance, and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the statement 
of service performance does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of audit 
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements 
and the statement of service performance, our 
responsibility is to read the other information. In doing 
so, we consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements and 
the statement of service performance or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the company and group in 
accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of Professional and 
Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for 
Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or 
interests in, the company or any if its subsidiaries. 

Stephen Usher 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31 
DECEMBER 2020
We are responsible for the preparation of UCOL’s financial 
statements and for the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining a 
system of internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of  financial 
reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements fairly reflect the 
financial position and  operations of UCOL for the 9 month 
period 01 April - 31 December 2020.

Signed by:

 
Dr Linda Sissons 
Chief Executive

 
Hon. Steve Maharey 
Board Chair

 
Barry Jordan 
Director

30 April 2021

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 
REPORTING ENTITY
UCOL is a Crown entity subsidiary that is domiciled and 
operates in New Zealand.  UCOL and the group was 
established on 1 April 2020 and its immediate controlling 
entity is Te Pūkenga — New Zealand Institute of Skills and 
Technology, and the ultimate controlling entity is the New 
Zealand Crown. The relevant legislation governing UCOL 
and the group’s operations includes the Education and 
Training Act 2020, the Crown Entities Act 2004, and the 
Companies Act 1993.

The financial statements are presented on a consolidated 
group basis. The group consists of UCOL (‘the parent’), 
UCOL Holdings Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary), 
UCOL International Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary 
of UCOL Holdings Limited), UCOL Developments Limited 
(a wholly owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited), 
UCOL School of International Cuisine Studies Limited (a 
wholly owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited) and 
Minerva International Education Limited (a wholly owned 
subsidiary). These subsidiaries are in the process of being 
liquidated.

These financial statements incorporate a 16.67% equity 
share of TANZ eCampus Limited, which is an associate. 
UCOL jointly controls the entity.

UCOL and the group provides educational and research 
services for the benefit of the community.  It does not 
operate to make a financial gain. UCOL has designated 
itself and the group as public benefit entities (PBE’s) for the 
purposes of complying with generally accepted accounting 
practice.

The financial statements of UCOL for the period ended 
31 December 2020 were authorised for issue by two 
members of the Board and the Chief Executive on 30 April 
2021.

HE KŌRERO TATAU THE NUMBERS
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1. Basis of Preparation
The Minister of Education announced the Government’s 
decisions on the Reform of Vocational Education proposals 
on 1 August 2019. The Education (Vocational Education 
and Training and Reform) Amendment Bill (the Bill) gained 
royal assent on 24 February 2020 and came into effect 
on 1 April 2020. The Education (Vocational Education 
and Training and Reform) Amendment Act 2020 created 
a new Crown entity, the New Zealand Institute of Skills 
and Technology (NZIST) renamed as Te Pūkenga, and 
converted all existing ITPs into crown entity subsidiary 
companies on 1 April 2020.

The Education and Training Act 2020 (schedule 1, clause 
21) states that all Te Pūkenga subsidiaries will continue in 
existence until 31 December 2022. Thereafter the rights, 
assets, and liabilities of UCOL Limited will be transferred 
to Te Pūkenga – New Zealand Institute of Skills and 
Technology (Te Pūkenga). There are mechanisms in the 
legislation to vary this date. 

Despite these provisions, the financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis, as the 
disestablishment is more than 12 months after the date 
the financial statements are issued, and because the 
operational delivery of the functions of UCOL Limited 
will continue through Te Pūkenga after 31 December 
2022. Consequently, there have been no changes to 
the recognition and measurement, or presentation of 
information in these financial statements.

These are the first financial statements for UCOL Limited 
and the accounting policies have been applied consistently 
throughout the 9 month reporting period.

Reporting period
UCOL Limited came into existence on 1 April 2020. 
Therefore, the reporting period for the financial 
statements is for the 9 months from 1 April 2020 to 31 
December 2020. The budget is for the 9 month period 1 
April 2020 to 31 December 2020. No comparative period is 
disclosed.

2. Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of UCOL and the group have 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education and Training 
Act 2020 which include the requirement to comply with 
New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ 
GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Tier 1 Public Sector PBE Accounting 
Standards (PBE accounting standards). These financial 
statements comply with PBE accounting standards. 
These standards are based on International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (IPSAS).

For the purposes of these financial statements, UCOL has 
been designated as a public benefit entity (PBE). Public 
benefit entities (PBEs) are reporting entities whose primary 
objective is to provide goods or services for community 
or social benefit and where any equity has been provided 
with a view to supporting that primary objective rather 
than for a financial return to equity holders.

These statements comprise:

• A Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

• A Statement of Changes in Equity

• A Statement of Financial Position

• A Cash Flow Statement

• Notes to the Financial Statements

3. Measurement Base
The financial statements have been prepared on an 
historical cost basis, except for land and buildings which 
have been measured at fair value. Non-current assets and 
disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value (less costs to sell).

4. Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values, other than the Board member 
remuneration disclosures in Note 4 and the related party 
transaction disclosures in Note 18, are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000).
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5. Standards issued and not yet effective and not early 
adopted
Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective 
that have not been early adopted and which are relevant 
to UCOL are:

Financial Instruments
PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PBE 
IFRS 9 is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2022, with earlier adoption permitted.

The main changes compared to PBE IPSAS 29 that are 
relevant to the Institute are:

• New financial asset classification requirements for 
determining whether an asset is measured at fair 
value or amortised cost.

• A new impairment model for financial assets based 
on expected losses, which may result in the earlier 
recognition of impairment losses.

UCOL does not intend to early adopt this amendment. 
UCOL carried out an assessment of the effects of the new 
standard and judged them to be not material.

Service Performance Reporting
PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting 
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. UCOL does 
not intend to early adopt this amendment. UCOL has not 
yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 will affect its 
statement of service performance.

Statement of Cashflows
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows 
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users 
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. This 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2021, with early application permitted. 
UCOL does not intend to early adopt the amendment.

Accounting for Leases
PBE IPSAS13 Accounting for Leases is effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, 
with early adoption permitted in the financial year starting 
1 January 2020.   UCOL has chosen not to early adopt this 
standard and intends to adopt the standard for the 31 
December 2021 financial year.   UCOL has not yet assessed 
in data the impact of the new standard.

Combinations
PBE IPSAS 40 PBE Combinations was issued in July 2019 
and is effective for annual financial statements covering 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. UCOL and 
the group has early adopted PBE IPSAS 40 and applied the 
standard for the vesting of the UCOL and the Group assets 
and liabilities to UCOL Limited on 1 April 2020. Further 
information about the vesting is disclosed in Note 25.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate.  Significant accounting policies that do 
not relate to a specific note are outlined below.

6. Basis of Consolidation
The group financial statements are prepared by adding 
together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, 
expenses, and cash flows on a line-by-line basis. All 
significant intra-group balances, transactions, revenue, and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar 
accounting policies that may exist.

(a) Non Consolidated Entity
A share of the results of Akoranga Education Trust 
Incorporated has not been recognised in UCOL’s financial 
statements in 2020 because it is not probable benefits will 
flow to UCOL from the Trust and UCOL’s entitlement to the 
Trust’s net assets cannot be reliably measured.

7. GST and Other Taxes

(a) GST
Items in the financial statements are stated exclusive 
of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are 
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not 
recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of 
the related asset or expense. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position. The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, 
including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in the 
statement of cash flows.  Commitments and contingencies 
are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

(b) Taxation
UCOL and the Group are exempt from income tax. 
Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been provided.

8. Comparatives
When presentation or classification of items in the 
financial statements is amended or accounting policies 
are changed voluntarily, comparative figures are restated 
to ensure consistency with the current period unless it is 
impractical to do so.

9. Budget Figures
The budget figures for UCOL and the group have been 
derived from the budget approved by the UCOL Council at 
the start of the 2020 financial year. Those budget figures 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted 
by the Board in preparing these financial statements. 
The approved budget was for the full 2020 year but, to 
be consistent with the 9 month reporting period, the 
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month-by-month budget from April to December 2020 has 
been used for the 9 month period for the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense and the statement 
of cash flows. The student achievement component (SAC) 
and fees-free funding was recognised by UCOL and the 
Group. Therefore, no budget amount has been included in 
the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

10. Foreign Currency Translation
Both the functional and presentation currency of UCOL 
and its New Zealand subsidiaries is in New Zealand dollars 
($). Any transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded in the functional currency at the exchange 
rates applicable at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange 
applicable at the balance date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined.

11. Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with 
PBE accounting standards, requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions about the 
future are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(a) Property Revaluations
Note 10 provides information about the estimates and 
assumptions exercised in the measurement of revalued 
land and buildings.

(b) Retirement Gratuities
Note 13 provides information about estimates and 
assumptions exercised in the measurement of retirement 
gratuities.

12. Critical Judgements in Applying UCOL’s Accounting 
Policies 
Judgements made by management in the application of 
PBE accounting standards that have significant effect on 
the financial statements and estimates with a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Management has exercised the following critical 
judgements in applying UCOL’s accounting policies for the 
period ended 31 December 2020.

(a) Classification of Property
UCOL owns some properties which are held primarily 
for strategic purposes. The receipt of market-based 
rental from these properties is incidental to holding 
these properties. These properties are accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment in accordance with PBE 
Accounting Standard 17.

(b) Crown Owned Land and Buildings
Property in the legal name of the Crown that is occupied 
by UCOL is recognised as an asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

UCOL considers it has assumed all the normal risks 
and rewards of ownership of this property despite legal 
ownership not being transferred, and accordingly it would 
be misleading to exclude these assets from the financial 
statements.

UCOL has secured the use of the property by means of 
a lease from the Ministry of Education for a period of 99 
years from 1 February 1998, at a nominal rental of $1 per 
annum.

(c) Suspensory Loans with Equity Conversion Features
Most Crown funding received is operational in nature 
and is provided by the Crown under the authority of an 
expense appropriation and is recognised as revenue.

Where funding is received from the Crown under the 
authority of a capital appropriation, UCOL accounts for the 
funding as a capital contribution directly in equity.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED PARENT

Actual Budget Actual

2020 2020 2020 

Notes $000 $000 $000

Revenue

Government grants 3(a)                  1,803              -          1,803 

Student tuition fees 3(b)                  6,249 11,326          6,249 

Other revenue 3(c)                  2,705                1,729          2,705 

Finance revenue 3(d)                       47                   147               47 

TOTAL REVENUE 10,804 13,202 10,804

EXPENSES

Employee benefit expenses 4                23,851              22,559        23,851 

Depreciation expense 10                  2,851                2,339          2,851 

Amortisation expense 11                     593                   983             593 

Materials and operations 3(e)                11,789              12,534        11,789 

Finance costs 3(d)                       14                     29               14 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 39,098 38,444 39,098 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) BEFORE SHARE OF ASSOCIATE ENTITY AND 
SEPARATELY DISCLOSED EXPENSE ITEMS

(28,294) (25,242) (28,294)

Separately disclosed expense items 3(f)                     2,285                      203                2,285  

TOTAL EXPENSES 41,383 38,647 41,383 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) BEFORE SHARE OF ASSOCIATE ENTITY              (30,579) (25,445)      (30,579) 

Share of associate entity 9 65 152               65 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD              (30,514) (25,293)  (30,514)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE

Transfer of revaluation reserve on disposal of land and buildings1 16                     146                      -               146 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE              (30,368) (25,293)      (30,368) 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
1 This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus Palmerston North property.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED PARENT CONSOLIDATED
Actual Budget Actual 1 April

2020 2020 2020 2020
Notes $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 6,537 8,366 5,935 12,508

Receivables and sundry assets 6 13,411 9,402 13,407 28,716

Properties held for sale 7                3,335                         -             3,335 -

Other financial assets 8                      -                           -                  -   3,500

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 23,283 17,768 22,677 44,724

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in associate entity 9 1,167 1,813 1,167 1,102

Receivables and sundry assets 6                      -                           -   1,446 -

Land 10 24,768 24,848 24,123 28,652

Buildings 10 71,705 74,604 71,705 73,643

Other plant and equipment 10 5,773 7,621 5,773 5,900

Intangible assets 11 1,854 2,136 1,854 1,596

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 105,267 111,022 106,068 110,893

TOTAL ASSETS 128,550 128,790 128,745 155,617

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 12 4,313 3,691 4,308 2,696

Employee entitlements 13 3,503 2,658 3,503 3,605

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 4,071 3,758 4,071 4,106

Revenue received in advance 15 10,765 11,182 10,765 9,094

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 22,652 21,289 22,647 19,501

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee entitlements 13 588 531 588 560

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 873 450 873 605

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,461 981 1,461 1,165

TOTAL LIABILITIES 24,113 22,270 24,108 20,666

NET ASSETS 104,437 106,520 104,637 134,951

EQUITY

Public equity 59,438 59,438 59,431 59,438

Retained earnings 29,263 37,584 29,520 59,631

Asset revaluation reserve 16 15,736 9,498 15,686 15,882

TOTAL EQUITY 104,437 106,520 104,637 134,951

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
For and on behalf on the Board, who authorise the issue of these financial statements on 30 April 2021.

Signed by:

Hon. Steve Maharey 
Board Chair

Barry Jordan 
Director

30 April 2021
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

CONSOLIDATED Public  
equity

Retained  
earnings

Revaluation  
Reserve

Total Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

AT 31 MARCH 2020 59,438 63,664 11,894 134,996 131,813

Changes on conversion to crown entity subsidiary companies2,3 (4,033) 3,988 (45)

Adjusted opening equity as at 1 April 2020 59,438 59,631 15,882 154,951 -

Total comprehensive revenue and expense (30,514) (30,514) (25,293)

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of revalued land and 
buildings1

- 146 (146) - -

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 59,438 29,263 15,736 104,437 106,520

PARENT Public  
equity

Retained  
earnings

Revaluation  
Reserve

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

AT 31 MARCH 2020 59,431 63,921 11,844 135,196

Changes on conversion to crown entity subsidiary companies2,3 (4,033) 3,988 (45)

Adjusted opening equity as at 1 April 2020 59,431 59,888 15,832 135,151

Total comprehensive revenue and expense - (30,514) (30,514)

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of revalued land and buildings1 - 146 (146) -

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 59,431 29,520 15,686 104,637

Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into the 
following components:

• Public equity represents the ownership interest

• Retained earnings are the profits from current and prior years

• Property revaluation reserves

Property revaluation reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets to fair value.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Footnotes
1 This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus Palmerston North property. 
2 Relates to write off of capitalised Course Development costs to align with parent entity accounting policy ($45,000). 
3 Relates to transfer required as on conversion to Te Pūkenga accounting policies identified historical charges to the  
  revaluation reserve relating to buildings should have been charged to retained earnings.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED PARENT

Actual Budget Actual

2020 2020 2020 

Notes $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:

Receipt of government grants 23,742 24,985 23,742

Receipt of student tuition fees                1,910 6,901        1,910 

Receipt of other ancillary income 2,804 1,700 2,804

Interest received 63 161 63

28,519 33,747 28,519

CASH WAS DISBURSED TO:

Payments to employees 23,326 21,812 23,326

Payments to suppliers 12,366 13,215 12,366

Interest paid                     14                       -               14 

Net GST                (925)                  (845)        (925) 

34,781 34,182 34,781

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6,262) (435) (6,262)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 260                  5,905 260

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets in the nature of investments 3,500                       -   3,500

3,760 5,905 3,760

CASH WAS DISBURSED TO:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3,247 5,287 3,269

Purchase of intangible assets 222 1,470 199

Purchase of financial assets in the nature of investments -                       -   -

Purchase of unlisted shares                      -                         -               -   

3,469 6,757 3,468

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 291 (852) 292

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:

Proceeds from Dividends - - -

- - -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES - - -

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,971) (1,287) (5,970)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 12,508 9,653 11,905

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 5 6,537 8,366 5,935
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RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (30,514) (30,514)

Add / (Less) non-cash items

Depreciation                 2,851      2,851 

De-recognition of buildings 2,070 2,070

Amortisation                    593         593 

Share of jointly controlled entity surplus / (deficit)                   (65)        (65) 

Other non cash items                      -              -   

Total non-cash items                 5,449                 5,449 

Add / (Less) items classified as investing or financing activities

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment                        9             9 

(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment                 (407)      (407) 

Total items classified as investing or financing activities                 (398)      (398) 

Movements in working capital:

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and sundry assets               16,887    16,887 

(Increase) / decrease in prepayments                   (52)        (52) 

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables                    642         642 

Increase / (decrease) in employee entitlements                   (74)        (74) 

Increase / (decrease) in GST                    925         925 

Increase / (decrease) in revenue received in advance                    873         873 

              19,201    19,201 

NET CASH  FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES              (6,262)   (6,262) 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

CASHFLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
Accounting Policy          
The following definitions have been used in the preparation of the Cash Flow Statement:

• Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand, and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and Cash 
equivalents are net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

• Operating Activities: Transactions and other movements that are not investing or financing activities.  

• Investing Activities: Activities relating to acquisition, holding and disposal of fixed assets and of investments, not falling 
within the definition of cash. 

• Financing Activities: Activities that change the equity and debt capital structure of UCOL.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Accounting Policy  
Revenue is measured at fair value. The specific accounting 
policies for significant revenue items are explained below:

(a) Performance-based research fund  
UCOL considers funding received from Performance-Based 
Research Fund (PBRF) to be non-exchange in nature. PBRF 
funding is specifically identified by the TEC as being for a 
funding period as required by Section 45 of the Education 
and Training Act 2020. UCOL recognises its confirmed 
allocation of PBRF funding at the commencement of the 
specified funding period, which is the same as the financial 
year. PBRF revenue is measured based on the funding 
entitlement adjusted for any expected adjustments as part 
of the final wash-up process. Indicative funding for future 
periods is not recognised until confirmed for that future 
period.

(b) Student achievement component (SAC) funding
Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding is 
UCOL’s main source of operational funding from the 
Tertiary Education Commission (TEC). UCOL considers 
SAC funding to be non-exchange revenue and would 
normally recognise SAC funding as revenue when the 
course withdrawal date has passed, based on the number 
of eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and 
the value of the course. However, for the 2020 year, UCOL 
and the Group has recognised all the funding for 2020. 
This was because, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the TEC confirmed at the end of March 2020 that it will not 
seek repayment of 2020 investment plan funding, which 
includes SAC funding, if there is under-delivery in the 2020 
year. As a consequence, UCOL has not recognised any SAC 
funding during the 9 month period.

(c) Fees-free funding and Targeted Trades Training 
funding
UCOL considers that fees-free revenue is non-exchange 
revenue and would normally recognise revenue when the 
course withdrawal date for an eligible student has passed. 
UCOL would present funding received as part of tuition 
fees. This is on the basis that receipts from the TEC are 
for payment on behalf of the student as specified in the 
relevant funding mechanism. However, for the 2020 year, 
UCOL and the Group has recognised all the 2020 fees free 
funding because, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the TEC confirmed that it will not seek repayment of 
2020 fees-free funding. As a consequence, UCOL has not 
recognised any fees-free funding during the 9 month 
period.

UCOL considers Targeted Trades Training funding as 
non-exchange revenue and recognises revenue when the 
course withdrawal date for an eligible student has passed. 
The institute has presented funding received for targeted 
trades training funding as part of student tuition fees.

(d) Other tertiary funding
Other tertiary funding is recognised as revenue when 
it becomes receivable unless there is an obligation, in 
substance, to return the funds if conditions of the funding 
are not met. If there is such an obligation, the funding is 
initially recorded as funding received in advance and then 
recognised as revenue when the conditions of the funding 
are satisfied.

(e) Student tuition fees
Domestic student tuition fees are accounted for as 
non-exchange transactions and recognised as revenue 
when the course withdrawal date has passed, which 
is when a student is no longer entitled to a refund for 
withdrawing from the course. International student 
tuition fees are accounted for as exchange transactions 
and are recognised as revenue on a course percentage of 
completion basis.

The percentage of completion is measured by reference 
to the days of the course completed at balance date as a 
proportion of the total course months.

(f) Other revenue
Revenue from the rendering of other services is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at balance date, based on the actual service provided as a 
percentage of the total services to be provided.

(g) Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using 
the effective interest method, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts across 
the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

(a) Government Grants 

SAC funding              1,1320 1,320 

Māori and Pacific Island equity funding                     -                         - 

Disabilities special supplementary equity funding                     -                         - 

Other tertiary funding 483                483 

TOTAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS                1,803                    1,803 

(b) Student Tuition Fees

Domestic student tuition fees                3,097                    3,097 

International student tuition fees                2,756                    2,756 

Fees-free funding - -

Targeted Trades Training funding                   706                       706 

Fees-free funding non-exchange revenue recognised 31 March 2020              (310)                  (310) 

TOTAL STUDENT TUITION FEES                6,249                    6,249 

(c) Other Revenue

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 407 407

ITO revenue                     267                     267 

Rent received                     226                     226 

Other revenue                1,805                1,805 

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE                2,705                2,705 

(d) Finance (Costs)/Revenue

Interest earned on bank deposits 47 47

TOTAL FINANCE REVENUE 47 47

Loans and overdrafts - -

Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (14) (14)

TOTAL FINANCE COSTS (14) (14)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

(e) Materials and Operations

Minimum lease payments – operating lease                   183                   183 

Net foreign exchange differences                      -                        -   

Fees to principal auditor: audit fees for financial statement audit                   135                   135 

Changes in provision for doubtful debts                       1                       1 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment                       9                       9 

Educational development costs                       8                       8 

Educational delivery costs                5,077                5,077 

Occupancy costs                3,359                3,359 

Educational support costs                3,017                3,017 

TOTAL MATERIALS AND OPERATIONS              11,789              11,789 

Operating Leases        
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised over the lease term on a straight-line basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses. 

Operating Lease Commitments – Group as Lessee        
UCOL has entered into commercial operating leases on certain property, plant and equipment where it is not in the best 
interest of the Group to purchase these assets.   

The term of each lease is determined on a case by case basis, and renewals are at the option of the specific entity that holds 
the lease. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by any of the operating leasing arrangements. The amounts 
disclosed as commitments are based on the current rental rates. 

The future minimum lease and other contract payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 
2020 are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments and Other Contracts

Within one year 283 476 

Later than one and not later than two years 193 73 

Later than two years and not later than five years 172 99 

Later than 5 years                      -                            -   

TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 648 648

No contingent rents have been recognised during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

(f) Separately Disclosed Items - Expense

Integration and development - other expenses 136 136 

Legislation compliance - other expenses 16 16 

Legislation compliance - wages and salaries 15 15 

Change management costs - other expenses 7 7 

COVID-19 costs - other expenses 41 41

De-recognition of buildings 2,070 2,070 

TOTAL SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS - EXPENSE 2,285 2,285 

Integration and Development Costs
Integration costs incorporate the operational costs associated with the consolidation of tertiary education delivery in 
Whanganui from seven campuses to two principal sites. Development costs incorporate the transitional operating costs 
directly associated with the development of an innovative and cross-sector collaborative approach to educational delivery 
and shared services model for tertiary students in Whanganui.

Legislation Compliance
Legislation compliance costs recognises the estimated value of historic under-payment of leave (refer note 13).

Change Management Costs
Change management costs were incurred in making adjustments to UCOL’s organisational structure.

COVID-19
Matters related to COVID-19 response.

De-recognition of Buildings
De-recognition of buildings relating to a surplus Whanganui property subject to an unconditional sale and purchase 
agreement as at the 31 December 2020.

4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Accounting Policy 
Defined contribution and superannuation schemes 
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund and other defined contribution superannuation 
schemes are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit when 
incurred.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Wages and salaries               23,123           23,123 

Defined contribution plan employer contribution                    614                614 

Councillor remuneration                    114                114 

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE               23,851           23,851 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Additional personnel disclosures

Number of employees by remuneration (contracted) band as at 31 December 2020

<$100,000 524

$100,000 - $109,999 2

$110,000 - $119,999 5

$120,000 - $129,999 1

$130,000 - $139,999 1

$160,000 - $169,999 2

$170,000 - $179,999 1

$190,000 - $199,999 1

$370,000 - $379,999 1

Total remuneration paid to members of UCOL Board is in recognition for directing the affairs of the entity.

Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel, as defined by PBE IPSAS 20: Related Party Disclosures, are the members of the governing 
body which comprises all members of Board, the Chief Executive, and seven members of the Senior Executive Team. The 
total remuneration of members of the Board and the number of individuals, on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis, receiving 
remuneration from UCOL are:

2020

$

Members of Board of Directors

Remuneration 113,916 

Full-time equivalent members             8.00 

Executive Management

Remuneration 1,782,716 

Full-time equivalent members               8.40 

TOTAL KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION    1,896,632

TOTAL FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT PERSONNEL            16.40 

The full-time equivalent for members of the Board has been determined based on the frequency and length of Board 
meetings and the estimated time for members of the Board to prepare for meetings.

Key management personnel includes all remuneration and other employee benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ remuneration

Director remuneration paid or payable during the year was: Consolidated & Parent

2020

$

Hon. Steve Maharey (Chair)          24,860

Verne Atmore 15,537 

Mark Cleaver 12,559 

Lyal French-Wright 10,627 

Katarina Hina 12,559

Barry Jordan 12,559 

Lorraine Stephenson (Atihaunui a Paparangi Rangitane, Ngati Kahungunu)           12,559 

Linda Stewart 12,559 

TOTAL DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION*         113,819 

* No director received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand 6,537 5,935 

Term deposits with maturities less than 3 months at acquisition -   -   

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,537 5,935 

Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are made 
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 
and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.

The carrying value of cash at bank and short term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair 
value.

The total value of cash and cash equivalents that can be used only for a specified purpose as outlined in the relevant trust 
deeds is $1,015,000. This relates to international student fees received prior to enrolment and TEC first year fees-free bulk 
funding received prior to contribution to the payment of student fees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS
Accounting Policy 
Student Fees and Receivables
Short-term receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value (the amount due) and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment.

At the end of each reporting period an assessment is 
made of whether there is objective evidence that short-
term receivables is impaired.  They are impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the receivable 
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows from the receivable 
that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the receivable’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 
at the receivable’s original effective interest rate.  The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.  

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Classification of the financial asset depends on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired.

Other Financial Assets  
Financial assets are classified into the following categories 
for the purposes of measurement:

• fair value through surplus or deficit;
• loans and receivables; and 
• fair value through other comprehensive revenue.

Further information about other financial assets is 
disclosed in note 8.

i) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit 
Financial assets at fair value through Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense include financial 
assets held for trading. 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling it in the short-term 
or is part of a portfolio that is managed together and 
for which there is evidence of short-term profit taking. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless 
they are designated into hedge accounting relationships 
for which hedge accounting is applied.  Financial assets 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-
term or part of a portfolio classified as held for trading 
are classified as a current asset. After initial recognition 
financial assets in this category are measured at their fair 
value with gains or losses on re-measurement recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

ii) Loans and Receivables (including cash and cash 
equivalents and debtors and other receivables)
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. 

They are included in current assets, except for maturities 
greater than 12 months after the balance date, which are 
included in non-current assets. Related party receivables 
that are repayable on demand are classified as a non-
current asset because repayment of the receivable is 
not expected within 12 months of balance date. After 
initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less 
any provision for impairment. Gains and losses when the 
asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

iii) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
revenue and expense are those that are designated as 
fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense or those that are not classified in any of the other 
categories above. They are included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the balance date. UCOL designates in 
this category:

• investments that it intends to hold long-term but 
which may be realised before maturity; and

• shareholdings that it holds for strategic purposes.

After initial recognition these investments are measured 
at their fair value, with gains and losses recognised 
in other comprehensive revenue and expense except 
for impairment losses, which are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 
On derecognition the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and 
expense is reclassified from equity to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Inventory
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision of goods and services. The measurement of inventories 
depends on whether the inventories are held for commercial or non-commercial (distribution at no charge or for a nominal 
charge) distribution or use. Inventories are measured as follows:

• Commercial: measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

• Non-commercial: measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential.

Cost is allocated using the first in, first out (FIFO) method, which assumes the inventories that were purchased first are 
distributed or used first.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Any write-
down from cost to net realisable value or for the loss of service potential is recognised in surplus or deficit in the year of the 
write-down.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000
CURRENT
Student receivables  8,943  8,943 

Organisation and other receivables  2,544  2,544 

Interest receivables                            -                             -   

Prepayments -operating  877  873 

Capital receivables  736  736 

Inventory  409  409 

Provision for doubtful debts ( 98) ( 98)

TOTAL CURRENT                    13,411                    13,407 

NON CURRENT
Related party receivables:

UCOL International Limited -   512 

Minerva International Education Limited - 580 

UCOL School of International Cuisine Studies Limited - 3,212 

UCOL Developments Limited - 638 

UCOL Holdings Limited - 139 

Provision for doubtful debts - (3,635)

TOTAL RELATED PARTY RECEIVABLES - 1,446 
Prepayments - operating - - 

TOTAL NON CURRENT - 1,446 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS -  14,853 

Fair Value     
Student Fees are non-interest bearing and generally should be paid on enrolment and no later than at graduation, therefore 
their carrying value approximates their fair value. For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables refer to 
Note 18. The fair value of receivables is $12,835,000. Organisation and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are 
generally settled on 30 day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of organisation and other receivables approximates fair 
value.

Assessment for Uncollectability
The provision for doubtful debts is based on a mix of assumptions driven by historical trends and specific review of debtor 
balances. The provision is calculated using a multi-step process. In step one, all debtors who have debt 90 days and over are 
identified. It is assumed all debt from these debtors is unlikely to be collected. In step two, debtors identified in step one are 
reviewed for evidence of any action in progress which is likely to result in the payment of the debt and as a consequence, an 
opinion is formed as to whether the debt is collectable. Step three involves amending the provision to take account of the 
opinion formed in step two.

Student, organisation and other receivables includes non-exchange revenue relating to next year of $8,441,000 and includes 
exchange revenue of $225,000.
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The ageing profile of student debt at year end is detailed below:

Gross Proven for 
Uncollectability Net

2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

Not past due 8,477 - 8,477 

0 to 30 days 20 -       20 

30 to 60 days 16 - 16 

60 to 90 days 30 14 16 

90 to 120 days 47 3 44 

> 120 days 354 81 273 

TOTAL STUDENT RECEIVABLES 8,943 98  8,845 

The ageing profile of organisation receivables at year end is detailed below:

Gross Proven for 
Uncollectability Net

2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

Not past due 2,354 - 2,343 

0 to 30 days 67 - 67 

30 to 60 days 13 - 13 

60 to 90 days 8 - 8 

90 to 120 days 53 - 53 

> 120 days 49 - 49 

TOTAL ORGANISATION RECEIVABLES 2,544 - 2,544 

The ageing profile of related party receivables at year end is detailed below:

Gross Proven for 
Uncollectability Net

2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT

> 60 days 5,081 3,635 1,446 

TOTAL RELATED PARTY RECEIVABLES 5,081 3,635 1,446 
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6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Movements in the provision for uncollectability are as follows: Consolidated

2020

$000

At 1 April 97 

Additional provisions made during the year 1 

Receivables written off during the period -   

TOTAL PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS AS AT 31 MARCH 98 

UCOL holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past due or uncollectable.

7. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Accounting Policy
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
Non-current assets held for sale are separately classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through 
a sale transaction rather than continuing use; that is, where such assets are available for immediate sale and where sale 
is highly probable. These assets are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Any 
impairment losses for write-downs of non-current assets held for sale are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense. Any increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense up to the level of any impairment losses that have been previously recognised.  Non-current assets 
(including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for 
sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be 
recognised.

As at 31 December 2020 UCOL had properties with a carrying value of $3,335,000 which met the definition of ‘held for sale’ 
as defined under PBE IPSAS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. UCOL does however have 
ownership, leasehold and equitable interests in land and buildings which are at various stages of being prepared for sale or 
transfer. The assets are being prepared for sale because they are no longer required for continued use in UCOL’s operations 
as a result of either educational provision utilising those assets ceasing, or the assets being replaced.  The assets being 
prepared for sale have a carrying value of $640,000 at 31 December 2020 and have been reviewed for impairment.

 
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Land held for sale  3,335  3,335 

3,335 3,335
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8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounting Policy
Financial Assets
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, unless they are carried at fair value through the 
surplus or deficit, in which case the transaction costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Term Deposits
Term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested.  Where applicable, interest is subsequently accrued and added 
to the investment balance. 

At year end, term deposits are assessed for indicators of impairment.  If they are impaired the amount not expected to be 
collected is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

CURRENT

Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months and remaining duration less than 12 months

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS - -

Term Deposits
Term deposits maturing over three months from date of acquisition are all at fixed rates. The weighted average rate secured 
for the period ended 31 December 2020 is 2.06% for the Group and the parent.

The carrying amount of term deposits approximates their fair value.

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Accounting Policy
UCOL has adopted the new group standards, PBE IPSAS 34 to 38, in preparing these financial statements. In adopting these 
new standards, UCOL has updated its accounting policies for its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.  
Disclosures have also been updated for the new disclosure requirements of PBE IPSAS 38.

Subsidiaries
UCOL consolidates in the group financial statements those entities it controls.  Control exists where UCOL is exposed, or 
has rights to, variable benefits (either financial or non-financial) and has the ability to affect the nature and amount of those 
benefits from its power over the entity. Power can exist over an entity if, by virtue of its purpose and design, the relevant 
activities and the way in which the relevant activities of the entity can be directed has been predetermined by UCOL.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.

Associate
An associate is an entity over which UCOL has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a 
joint venture. Investments in associates are accounted for in the group financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting. Investments in associates are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.

Joint Venture
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement.  Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.

Investments in joint ventures are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Equity method of accounting in group financial statements       
Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the Group financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognise the group’s share of the change in net assets of the entity after the date of acquisition. the Group’s 
share of the surplus or deficit is recognised in the Group surplus or deficit. Distributions received from the investee reduce 
the carrying amount of the investment in the Group financial statements.

If the share of deficits of the entity equals or exceeds the interest in the entity, the Group discontinues recognising its 
share of further deficits. After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for, and a liability is 
recognised, only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the entity.  If the entity subsequently reports surpluses, the Group will resume recognising its share of those surpluses only 
after its share of the surpluses equals the share of deficits not recognised.

2020

Breakdown of investment in subsidiaries and further information $

Subsidiary

UCOL Holdings Limited 10 

Minerva International Limited 100 
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Breakdown of investment in associates and further information
UCOL has a 16.67% interest in associate, TANZ eCampus. UCOL’s significant influence is established through its 
representation on the TANZ eCampus Board of Directors, which is equally shared between the shareholder, UCOL, and 
Polytechnics (ITPs).  In addition, it is established through the significant transactions of the purchase of services delivered to 
both UCOL and the other shareholding ITPs.

TANZ eCampus Limited provides collaborative programme development and online delivery platform services for tertiary 
education.  On-line learners enrolled at UCOL access educational delivery, including specialist on-line facilitation, through the 
TANZ eCampus online platform.  This is a collaboration between six ITPs, all of whom have an equal shareholding and board 
representation in TANZ eCampus Limited.

Financial information relating to TANZ eCampus Limited is provided below:  

2020

$000

UCOL

Investment in TANZ eCampus Limited (at cost) 1,093  

Group

Dividends or similar distributions received 1,093  

Summarised financial information of associate

Current assets 3,353 

Non-current assets 4,613 

Current liabilities 953 

Non-current liabilities -

Net assets 7,013 

Revenue 9,003

Tax expense -

Surplus/(deficit) 108

Other comprehensive revenue and expense -

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 108

Reconciliation to equity accounted carrying amount

Net assets      7,013 

Group's share 16.67%

Elimination of unrealised surplus on downstream sale -

Equity accounted carrying amount 1,167

Risk associated with the UCOL’s investment in the associate

Share of contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors relating to the associate -
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment
Accounting policy
Property, plant, and equipment consists of nine asset 
classes: land, buildings, infrastructure, leasehold 
improvements, computer hardware, furniture and 
equipment, motor vehicles, library collection, and 
heritage collections.  Land is measured at fair value, and 
buildings and infrastructure are measured at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation. All other asset classes 
are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Revaluation
Land, buildings, and infrastructure are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount 
does not differ materially from fair value and at least every 
three years.  Revaluation movements are accounted for on 
a class-of-asset basis.

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated 
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class-of-
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation 
that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in 
the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus 
or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment 
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to UCOL and the group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Work in 
progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not 
depreciated. In most instances, an item of property, plant, 
and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an 
asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it 
is recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item will 
flow to UCOL and the group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing 
of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit as they are incurred.  Additions over 
$2,000 in value are capitalised.  Amounts under this are 
expensed.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net 
in the surplus or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect 
of those assets are transferred to general funds within 
equity.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant, and equipment other than land and 
heritage collections, at rates that will write off the cost 
(or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. Heritage collections are not 
depreciated because they are maintained such that they 
have indefinite or sufficiently long useful lives that any 
depreciation is considered to be negligible.  The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of 
assets have been estimated as follows:

• Buildings (including components) 25 to 100 years 1% 
to 4%

• Infrastructure 10 to 50 years 2% to 10%

• Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years 10% to 33.3%

• Computer hardware 5 years 20%

• Furniture and equipment 2 to 13 years 7.7% to 50%

• Motor vehicles 4 years 25%

• Library collection 10 years 10%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter 
of the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is 
the shorter.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are reviewed for 
impairment at each balance date and whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount might not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use.  If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be 
impaired and the carrying amount is written-down to the 
recoverable amount. For revalued assets, the impairment 
loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset. Where that results in a debit balance in 
the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.  For assets not carried at a revalued 
amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.  The reversal of an impairment loss 
on a revalued asset is credited to other comprehensive 
revenue and expense and increases the asset revaluation 
reserve for that class of asset. However, to the extent that 
an impairment loss for that class of asset was previously 
recognised in the surplus or deficit, a reversal of an 
impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or deficit.   
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (CONTINUED)
Value in use for non-cash-generating assets
Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are not held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.  
For non-cash-generating assets, value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement 
cost approach, a restoration cost approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure 
value in use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

Value in use for cash-generating assets
Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return. The 
value in use for cash-generating assets and cash-generating units is the present value of expected future cash flows.

Restrictions on title
Under the Education and Training Act 2020, UCOL and the group is required to notify Te Pūkenga, who then obtains consent 
from the Secretary for Education, to dispose of land and building. For plant and equipment, there is an asset disposal limit 
formula, which provides a limit up to which a UCOL and the group may dispose of plant and equipment without seeking 
consent via Te Pūkenga from the Secretary for Education.

Capital Commitments
At 31 December 2020 the group had capital commitments of $539,000.
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Land 28,652 - 28,652 - (3,335) - (550) - 24,768 - 24,768

Infrastructure 6,279 (127) 6,152 - - - - (77) 6,288 (204) 6,084

Buildings 68,653 (2,151) 66,502 734 - (2,070) (25) (1,319) 67,292 (3,470) 63,822

Leasehold 
improvements 832 (489) 343 - - - - (49) 832 (538) 294

Furniture and 
equipment 11,542 (8,537) 3,005 799 - - (9) (796) 12,332 (9,333) 2,999

Computer hardware 3,096 (2,505) 591 219 - - - (214) 3,315 (2,719) 596

Motor vehicles 994 (666) 328 319 - - - (156) 1,313 (822) 491

Heritage collection 66 (54) 12 - - - - (5) 66 (59) 7

Library collection 4,784 (3,505) 1,279 80 - - (2) (235) 4,862 (3,740) 1,122

Total property, 
plant and 
equipment

124,899 (18,034) 106,865 2,160 (3,335) (2,070) (586) (2,851) 121,068 (20,885) 100,183

Property transferred to assets held for sale (3,335)

Total property, plant and equipment after 
transfer

106,865 100,183
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Parent

1 April 2020 2020 31 Dec 2020
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Land 28,008 - 28,008 - (3,335) - (550) - 24,123 - 24,123

Infrastructure 6,279 (127) 6,152 9 - - - (77) 6,288 (204) 6,084

Buildings 68,653 (2,151) 66,502 734 - (2,070) (25) (1,319) 67,292 (3,470) 63,822

Leasehold 
improvements 832 (489) 343 - - - - (49) 832 (538) 294

Furniture and 
equipment 11,542 (8,537) 3,005 799 - - (9) (796) 12,332 (9,333) 2,999

Computer hardware 3,096 (2,505) 591 219 - - - (214) 3,315 (2,719) 596

Motor vehicles 994 (666) 328 319 - - - (156) 1,313 (822) 491

Heritage collection 66 (54) 12 - - - - (5) 66 (59) 7

Library collection 4,784 (3,505) 1,279 80 - - (2) (235) 4,862 (3,740) 1,122

Total property, 
plant and 
equipment

124,254 (18,034) 106,220 2,160 (3,335) (2,070) (586) (2,851) 120,423 (20,885) 99,538

Property transferred to assets held for sale (3,335)

Total property, plant and equipment after 
transfer

106,220 99,538

Assets under construction

1 April 2020 2020 31 Dec 2020

Cost Additions Capitalisations Net Carrying Value

Infrastructure - -  - -

Buildings 1,000 799  - 1,799

Leasehold improvements - -  - -

Furniture and equipment 211 53  - 264

Library collection - -  - -

Total 1,211 852 - 2,063

Total property, plant and equipment 101,601
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (CONTINUED)
Revaluations           
An independent valuation was obtained to determine the fair value of land and buildings.  Fair value is determined by 
reference to an open market basis, being the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable 
willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation date for land and buildings 
of a non-educationally specific nature.  Where buildings have been designed specifically for educational purposes they are 
valued at depreciated replacement cost which is considered to reflect fair value for such assets.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions.  Significant assumptions 
include: 

• The replacement asset is based on the replacement with modern equivalent assets with adjustments where appropriate 
for obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity.

• The replacement cost is derived from recent construction contracts of similar assets and Property Institute of New 
Zealand cost information.

• For UCOL’s earthquake-prone buildings that are expected to be strengthened, the estimated earthquake-strengthening 
costs have been deducted off the depreciated replacement cost.

• The remaining useful life of assets is estimated.       

• Straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated replacement cost value of the asset.  
              

Non-specialised buildings (for example, residential buildings) are valued at fair value using market-based evidence. 

Market rents and capitalisation rates were applied to reflect market value. These valuations include adjustments for 
estimated building strengthening costs for earthquake-prone buildings and the associated lost rental during the time to 
undertake the strengthening work. 

COVID-19, UCOL obtained a fair value assessment as at 31 December 2020 from its external valuer for its land and buildings.

Land and buildings were revalued by G Dowse, independent registered valuer, of the firm Blackmore Group.  The effective 
date of the valuation was 31 December 2018, and the total consolidated fair value at that date was $101,517,000 (parent: 
$100,872,000).

Seismic Assessment
UCOL has progressed a number of detailed seismic assessments in 2020 which are being carried out across both its 
Manawatū and Whanganui Campuses. This was in response to the identification of earthquake prone buildings at these 
campuses following the completion of initial seismic assessments for Manawatū Campus. Early indications are that the 
Manawatū campus primary structures achieve at least a NBS of 34% or higher, while all but one secondary structures don’t. 
This work is ongoing and to date it is not possible to quantify the level of remediation works required and consequently 
reasonably estimate the valuation impact of these works in this Annual Report.  However, initial high level estimates 
provided by BECA indicate that these could be substantial. Therefore no adjustments have been made to the carrying value 
of these buildings for seismic issues. Whilst some rooms have been reallocated to permit this work to be undertaken, there 
has been no significant negative effect on the operations at UCOL. The Board is confident that this issue does not affect the 
current operations or services of UCOL whilst it considers its response to this matter. 
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Depreciation

Depreciation on 
disposals

Impairment 
losses 
recognised

Impairment 
losses reversed Depreciation

Total 
depreciation

Infrastructure - - - (77) (77)

Buildings - - - (1,319) (1,319)

Leasehold improvements - - - (49) (49)

Furniture and equipment - - - (796) (796)

Computer hardware - - - (214) (214)

Motor vehicles - - - (156) (156)

Heritage collection - - - (5) (5)

Library collection - - - (235) (235)

Total depreciation - - - (2,851) (2,851)
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11. Intangible Assets 
Accounting policy
Software acquisition and development 
Computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. Costs that are directly associated 
with the development of software for internal use are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include 
software development employee costs and relevant 
professional fees. Staff training costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred. Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. 

Course-related software and websites
Course-related software and website development costs 
are classified as software and accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy for software.  Capitalised costs 
are tested for impairment and, once available for use, 
amortised in accordance with that policy.

Courses purchased from other organisations
Separately acquired courses and programmes (including 
trademarks and licences) acquired from outside of the Te 
Pūkenga group are initially recognised at historical cost.  
They have a finite useful life and, subsequent to initial 
recognition, should be carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.  They are amortised 
over a period not exceeding 5 years. 

Internally developed courses
Course development costs are expensed when incurred 
unless the course development costs are directly 
attributable to the design of identifiable and unique 
courses and programmes controlled by the group in which 
case they are recognised as intangible assets where all of 
the following criteria are met:  

a) The course material is identifiable and the use and 
redistribution of course material is controlled by the 
group through legal or other means.

b) It is probable that the courses will generate future 
economic benefits or service potential attributable to 
the course and the cost can be reliably measured.  This 
is the case when:

i. it is technically feasible to complete the development 
so that the course or programme will be available 
for use and/or sale;

ii. management intends to complete the development 
of the course or programme and use or sell it:

iii. there is an ability to use or sell the course or 
programme;

iv. it can be demonstrated how the course or 
programme will generate probable future economic 
benefits or service potential;

v. there are adequate technical, financial and other 
resources available to complete development of the 
course or programme and to use or sell the course 
or programme; and

vi. the expenditure attributable to the course or 
programme development can be reliably measured. 

Capitalised course development costs related to courses 
that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired.   
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Capitalised course development costs are amortised from 
the point at which the course or programme is ready 
for use and are amortised over a period not exceeding 
5 years.  They are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.  They are tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. 

Costs associated with maintaining courses and 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Intellectual property development 
Research costs are expensed as incurred in the surplus or 
deficit. Development costs that are directly attributable to 
the design, construction, and testing of pre-production or 
pre-use prototypes and models associated with intellectual 
property development are recognised as an intangible 
asset if all the following can be demonstrated:

• It is technically feasible to complete the product so 
that it will be available for use or sale.

• Management intends to complete the product and use 
or sell it.

• There is an ability to use or sell the product.

• It can be demonstrated how the product will generate 
probable future economic benefits or service potential.

• Adequate technical, financial, and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell the 
product are available.

• The expenditure attributable to the product during its 
development can be reliably measured. 

Other development expenses that do not meet these 
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred in 
the surplus or deficit.  Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense cannot be subsequently 
recognised as an asset.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life 
is amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use 
and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each financial year is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as 
follows:

• Computer software 3 to 6 years 16.7% to 33.3%.

• Leased assets straight line over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term 
(5.6% - 36%).

Capitalised intellectual property development costs are still 
a work in progress. The useful life of completed projects 
will be established at project completion.

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost that have 
an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment.

Goodwill
UCOL will recognise goodwill where there is an excess of 
the consideration transferred over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. This difference 
reflects the goodwill to be recognised by Te Pūkenga. If 
the consideration transferred is lower than the net fair 
value of the interest in the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed, the difference will be recognised 
immediately in the surplus or deficit.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.   An impairment 
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed.  Goodwill 
is tested for impairment on an annual basis taking into 
consideration any changes to the business activities and 
environment in which UCOL operates.
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11. Intangible Assets (CONTINUED)
Leased Assets
At the commencement of the lease term, UCOL shall recognise assets acquired under finance leases as assets, and the 
associated lease obligations as liabilities in the statement of financial position.   Although the legal form of a lease agreement 
is that the lessee may acquire no legal title to the leased asset, in the case of finance leases the substance and financial 
reality are that the lessee acquires the economic benefits or service potential of the use of the lease asset for the major part 
of its economic life in return for entering into an obligation to pay for that right, an amount approximating, at the inception 
of the lease, the fair value of the asset and the related finance charge.  A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense 
for depreciable assets as well as a finance expense.  The depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets shall be consistent 
with that for the depreciable assets that are owned.  If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term, the assets shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or its useful life.

1 April 2020 2020 31 Dec 2020
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Computer software 6,660 (6,220) 440 126 - - - (220) 6,786 (6,440) 346

Goodwill - - - - - - - - - - -

Course 
development 11 - 11 - - - - (11) - - -

Other intangible 
assets - - - - - - - - - - -

Lease assets                                                   1,683 (538) 1,145 592 - - - (362) 2,276 (900) 1,376

Total intangible 
assets 8,354 (6,758) 1,596 718 - - - (593) 9,062 (7,340) 1,722

Intangible assets under construction

1 April 2020 2020 31 Dec 2020

Cost Additions Capitalisations Net Carrying Value

Computer software 70 62  - 132

Course development 49 (49)  - -

Other intangible assets - -  - -

Total 119 13 - 132

Total intangibles 1,854
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11. Intangible Assets (CONTINUED)
Amortisation

Amortisation on 
disposals

Impairment 
losses 
recognised

Impairment 
losses reversed Amortisation

Total 
amortisation

Computer software - - - (220) (220)

Goodwill - - - - -

Course development - - - (11) (11)

Other intangible assets - - - - -

Lease assets                                                   - - - (362) (362)

Total amortisation - - - (593) (593)

There are no title restrictions or security pledges for intangible assets. 

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   
Accounting Policy
Trade Payables
Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable. Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-
day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when:

• there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation;

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation using 
market yields on Government bonds at balance date with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense and is 
included in “finance costs”.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Payables under exchange transactions

Trade payables - Operating 3,010 3,005

Trade payables - Capital 303 303

Total payables under exchange transactions 3,313 3,308

Payables under non-exchange transactions

GST Payable 1,000  1,000

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 4,313 4,308
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13. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Accounting Policy
Provision is made in respect of the UCOL liability for annual leave, sick leave, long service leave and retirement gratuities. 
Annual leave has been calculated on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of pay. 
Sick leave has been calculated based on the expected utilisation of unused entitlement. Retirement gratuities are calculated 
based on the present value of estimated future cash flows determined on an actuarial basis. 
This provision is affected by a number of assumptions including expected length of service, attrition rate and salary increase. 
The discount rate is the market yield on relevant New Zealand Government Stock at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense as incurred. A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a 
contractual obligation or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the obligation can be made.

Presentation of employee entitlements
Sick leave, annual leave are classified as a current liability. 

Retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability. All other 
employee entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Retirement gratuities
The present value of the retirement gratuities depends on factors that are determined on an actuarial basis. Two key 
assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in these 
assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability.

Expected future payments are discounted using forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of New Zealand 
Government bonds. The discount rates used have maturities that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary inflation patterns and after 
obtaining advice from an independent actuary. A weighted average discount rate of 0.51% and an inflation factor of 3.5% 
were used.

EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Accrued wages and salaries 474 474

Annual leave 2,695 2,695

Sick leave 124 124

Retirement gratuities 798 798

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 4,091 4,091

COMPRISING :

Current portion 3,503 3,503

Non current portion 588 588

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 4,091 4,091

Annual Leave (Legislative Compliance)
A provision is provided for historic underpayment of leave.  The issues generally relate to entitlements under the Holidays 
Act 2003 and how a range of allowances and entitlements have been interpreted and implemented (refer to Note 3(f)). 
Underpayments relating to staff currently employed have now been paid. Former staff are yet to be paid.
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14. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS Effective Maturity CONSOLIDATED PARENT

interest rate 2020 2020

CURRENT (%) $000 $000

Obligations under finance leases (Equipment) 0.52% 2020 514 514 

Retirement gratuities 0.0% On demand 3,557 3,557

TOTAL CURRENT 4,071 4,071

NON CURRENT

Obligations under finance leases (Equipment) 0.52%  2021-2024                    873 873 

TOTAL NON CURRENT 873 873 

Borrowings on normal commercial terms are initially recognised at the amount borrowed plus transaction costs.  Interest 
due on the borrowings is subsequently accrued and added to the borrowings balance.  Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless Te Pūkenga or the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the balance date.

Ministry Of Education Capital Injection
The amounts identified as repayable to the Ministry of Education form part of the Ministry of Education Capital Injection 
Agreement of 7 October 1996, Variation No.1 of 28 September 1998 and Variation No. 2 of 30 June 2004. Variation No. 1 
required UCOL to compensate the Crown for retaining certain lands included in the New City Campus. As the value of these 
lands was already incorporated into the financial statements the compensation is essentially a return of equity. Accordingly 
Equity was reduced by $1,156,600 and the Current Portion of Term Liabilities was increased by $1,156,600 to reflect this 
obligation. Variation No. 2 provided for UCOL to return land at 165 Grey Street, Palmerston North to the Crown and in 
compensation for the Crown to forgive $2,600,000 of the repayable Ministry of Education Capital Injection. 

The carrying amount of the Ministry of Education Capital Injection is approximate to its fair value because the interest rate is 
0% and the loan is repayable on demand. 

Finance Leases as Lessee
UCOL has entered into finance leases for various items of equipment. The net carrying amount of the leased items within the 
class of plant and equipment is shown in Note 11.

The finance leases can be renewed at UCOL’s option. At the end of the lease term, UCOL has the option to purchase the 
equipment.

There are no restrictions placed on UCOL by any of the finance leasing arrangements.
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14. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

ANALYSIS OF FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

TOTAL MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS ARE PAYABLE: $000 $000

Not later than one year 528 528 

Later than one year and not later than five years 882 882 

Later than five years - - 

TOTAL MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS                 1,410               1,410 

Future finance charges (23) (23)

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS                 1,387               1,387 

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS ARE PAYABLE:

Not later than one year 514 514 

Later than one year and not later than five years 873 873 

Later than five years - - 

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS 1,387 1,387

Current 514 514 

Non current 873 873 

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS 1,387 1,387

Fair Value
The fair value of finance leases is $1,770,000. The fair value has been determined using contractual cash flows discounted 
based on market borrowing rates at balance date of 0.52%.
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15. REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

CURRENT $000 $000

Government funding - -

Student fees 10,765 10,765

TOTAL REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 10,765 10,765

Revenue in advance from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the 
course withdrawal date has not yet passed and for international student fees, which is based on the percentage completion 
of the course.  

Government funding relates to fees free tertiary study funding. This represents bulk up-front funding received from TEC 
which has not been applied to the payment of student fees. 
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16. ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE 

Accounting Policy
Revaluations
Land, buildings and infrastructure are revalued at least every three years or whenever the carrying amount differs materially 
from fair value.

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from fair value. If 
there is evidence supporting a material difference, then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued.

Revaluations of property, plant, and equipment are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis. The net revaluation results are 
credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to an asset revaluation reserve in 
equity for that class of asset, surplus or deficit. 

Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or deficit will be 
recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense.

LAND BUILDINGS INFRASTRUCTURE TOTAL

2020 2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000 $000

Parent

Opening Balance as at 31 March 2020 14,149 (3,988) 1,683 11,844

Opening balance transfer to Retained Earnings1 0 3,988 0 3,988

Opening Balance 1 April 2020 subtotal 14,149 0 1683 15,832

Transfer to Retained Earning upon disposal (425) 279 0 (146)

13,724 279 1,683 15,686

LAND BUILDINGS INFRASTRUCTURE TOTAL

2020 2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000 $000

Consolidated

Balance as at 31 March 2020 14,199 (3,988) 1,683 11,894

Balance transfer to Retained Earnings1 0 3,988 0 3,988

Opening Balance 1 April 2020 subtotal 14,199 0 1,683 15,882

Transfer to Retained Earning upon disposal (425) 279 0 (146)

TOTAL ASST REVALUATION RESERVE AT 31 
DECEMBER

13,774 279 1,683 15,736

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increases and decreases in the fair value of land and buildings to the extent 
that they offset one another.           

Footnotes 
1 Relates to transfer required as on conversion to Te Pūkenga accounting policies identified historical charges to the  
  revaluation reserve relating to buildings should have been charged to retained earnings. 
2 This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus Palmerston North property.

Refer to Note 10 Property, Plant and Equipment for further information.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial instruments presented in the Statement of Financial Position relate to the following 
categories of assets and liabilities:

ANALYSIS OF FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Financial Assets

Loans and Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits 6,535 5,933

Receivables 12,125 12,125

Loans to related parties - 1,446

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 18,660 19,504

Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities measured at Amortised Cost

Trade and other payables 4,313 4,310

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST 7,870 7,867

Financial Instruments Risk
UCOL’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The UCOL Board 
has approved policies to manage these financial risks and to authorise the use of various financial instruments. These 
policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into. UCOL is risk averse and seeks to 
minimise exposure from financial instruments. 

(i) Market risk
Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. Investments and borrowings issued at variable interest rates expose UCOL to cash flow interest rate 
risk. 

UCOL’s policy is to manage interest rate risk by utilising fixed term interest funding periods. 100% of debt should be in fixed 
interest rate investments for periods of no less than 30 days. Where possible the expiry of funding periods should be spread 
throughout a borrowing period.

Sensitivity analysis
If interest rates on investments at 31 December 2020 had fluctuated by plus or minus 1.0%, the effect would have been to 
increase/decrease the net surplus/(deficit) for the period by $85,000. Interest rates on short term deposits ranged from 0.0% 
to 2.57%.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. 
UCOL has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure largely arises from purchases by UCOL’s libraries in currencies 
other than UCOL’s functional currency. 
UCOL believes it’s exposure to currency risk is minimal.

Other price risk    
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded 
in the market. UCOL believes it’s exposure to other price risk is minimal.
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(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to UCOL causing it to incur a loss.

UCOL has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a large number of credit customers, mainly students, and it 
is a policy of UCOL to withhold academic results until outstanding fees are paid. With the exception of student fees, UCOL 
trades only with recognised creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that UCOL’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

In the normal course of business, UCOL is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, receivables, and 
available-for-sale financial assets. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying 
amount in the Statement of Financial Position.

It is the policy of Board that investment funds (being cash held which is surplus to current requirements, including 
repayment of debt) are invested in accordance with the Education and Training Act 2020 and Public Finance Act 1989 without 
requiring ministerial approval. This policy limits investment deposits with registered banks and public securities to no more 
than 20% of the total investments held. In addition, the policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution or 
organisation.

UCOL only invests funds with those entities which have a Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch issuer’s long-term credit 
rating of at least A-. Accordingly, the group does not require any collateral or security to support these financial instruments. 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within UCOL.

UCOL holds no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.

Credit Quality of Financial Assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and 
Poor’s, Moody’s of Fitch’s credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:  

CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2020 2020

$000 $000

Cash at bank and term deposits

AA- 6,060 5,458

A 224 224

A- 251 251

TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND TERM DEPOSITS 6,535 5,933

Loans to related parties

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past - 1,446

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past - -

TOTAL LOANS TO RELATED PARTIES - 1,446

Receivables

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past 10,990 10,990

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past                      -                      - 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES             10,990 10,990
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(iii) Liquidity risk 
Management of liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that UCOL will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market positions.

UCOL mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow requirements. UCOL’s objective 
is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, finance leases and hire 
purchase contracts.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The table below analyses financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance 
date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating rate of the 
instrument at balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Less than  
6 months

6-12  
months

Later than 
1 year

Later than 
3 years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2020 - Consolidated

Trade and other payables 4,313 4,313 4,313 - - -

Accrued wages and salaries 474 474 474 - - -

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - -

Finance leases 1,387 1,410 272 256 780 102

TOTAL 9,731 9,754 8,616 256 780 102

2020 - Parent

Trade and other payables 4,310 4,310 4,310 - - -

Accrued wages and salaries 474 474 474 - - -

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - -

Finance leases 1,387 1,410 272 256 780 102

TOTAL 9,728 9,751 8,613 256 780 102
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18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
Accounting Policy
UCOL is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. 
UCOL is the ultimate parent of the group and controls 
five entities: UCOL International Limited, UCOL Holdings 
Limited, UCOL School of International Cuisine Studies 
Limited, UCOL Developments Limited and Minerva 
International Education Limited. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for 
transactions with related parties that are within a normal 
supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and 
conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is 
reasonable to expect UCOL would have adopted in dealing 
with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. 
Further, transactions with government agencies (for 
example, government departments and Crown entities) 
are not disclosed as related party transactions when they 
are consistent with the normal operating arrangements 
between government agencies and undertaken on the 
normal terms and conditions for such transactions. 

Related party transactions required to be disclosed
UCOL leases, at a $1 rental amount, land and buildings 
legally owned by the Crown. 

Further information on the accounting for Crown-
owned land and buildings is disclosed in the Statement 
of Accounting Policies (12(b)) under the heading Critical 
judgements in applying UCOL’s accounting policies: Crown 
owned land and buildings.

During April - December 2020 costs totalling $15,749 were 
paid to Central Economic Development Agency (CEDA). 
The CEO of CEDA is Linda Stewart who is also a UCOL Ltd 
Board Member. The transaction was as a normal part of 
UCOL’s business to develop the regional labour market 
and was at arm’s length.

Between September - December 2020 costs totalling 
$6,800 were paid to a relative of the Chief Executive. The 
relative undertook a short-term contract and the payment 
was related to a special project to collect data on the 
effects of COVID-19 on UCOL and was at arm’s length.

Further information about key management personnel is 
disclosed in Note 4. Employee Benefits

19. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
There have been no other events subsequent to balance 
date that materially impact on the results of UCOL, except 
for the sale of Old Main Campus Whanganui land on 31 
March 2021.

20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Accounting Policy
UCOL’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated 
funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net 
assets.

UCOL is subject to the financial management and 
accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, 
the Education and Training Act 2020 and the Public 
Finance Act 1989, which impose restrictions in relation to 
borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing debentures 
and indemnities and the use of derivatives. In addition 
there are restrictions in relation to disposing of assets or 
interests in assets, ability to mortgage or otherwise charge 
assets or interests in assets and granting leases of land or 
buildings or parts of building.

UCOL manages its equity as a by-product of prudently 
managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure 
UCOL effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, 
whilst remaining a going concern.

Projects which have significant capital spend are subject to 
generally accepted financial analysis including net present 
value, internal rate of return and simple payback where 
applicable. 

21. CONTINGENCIES 
Accounting Policy
Contingent Assets
In the event of the Akoranga Education Trust Incorporated 
(an associate) being liquidated or dissolved, UCOL holds a 
right to the net assets of the Trust. However prior to one of 
these events occurring the net assets of the Trust could be 
partly or wholly applied towards meeting the objectives of 
the Trust. Therefore at the present time it is not probable 
that benefits will flow from the right to the net assets of 
the Trust, nor can the entitlement be reliably measured.

Personal Grievance Claims
As at 31 December 2020 UCOL has no open personal 
grievance claims. The quantum of any settlement costs 
cannot be reliably estimated as at the time of printing.

Compassionate Grants (Students)
UCOL offers relief of funds through a compassionate grant 
for enrolled students where unforeseen circumstances 
beyond a student’s control interrupts their course of 
study. These are approved on a case-by-case basis by the 
appropriate Dean of Faculty. At 31 December 2020 UCOL 
had compassionate grants outstanding to the value of 
$90,000. 

Scholarships
UCOL offers scholarships for students. As at 31 December 
2020 UCOL has awarded scholarships to students to the 
value of $0.

These scholarships have been offered to students on the 
provision that they enrol in a qualifying programme at 
UCOL. The scholarships are contingent on the student 
enrolling so have been treated as a contingent liability.  
Scholarships in 2020 have been offered on the basis that 
they can be applied once any fees free period has been 
exhausted.
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22. COVID-19
The effects of COVID-19 on UCOL
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization 
declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) 
a pandemic and two weeks later the New Zealand 
Government declared a State of National Emergency. From 
this the country entered Alert Level 4 lockdown before 
slowly returning to Level 1. A subsequent New Zealand 
outbreak in August 2020 saw New Zealand lift alert levels 
for a short period.

After 28 April, when New Zealand moved to Alert Level 3, 
UCOL took a phased approach to returning to campus, 
prioritising a small number of programmes where 
students were close to completing their qualification to 
come to campus to complete practical learning required to 
complete their programme of study. All other teaching and 
activities remained as per Alert Level 4.  

Entering Alert Level 2, UCOL took the same approach, on 
18 May returning practical learning, tutorials, exams, and 
assessments to campuses where necessary, and staff 
who needed to access UCOL facilities for on-line delivery.   
General staff continued to work from home unless needed 
on campus.  Part of the staged return to UCOL campuses 
under Alert Level 2 enabled UCOL to trial systems with 
more people on campus and they worked well. 

UCOL was ready for Alert Level 1, and students were 
invited to return to campus from 8 June for self-directed 
study or classes as advised by lecturing staff.   From 
Monday, 15 June 2020, all staff, with the exception of 
those who were vulnerable, returned to campus.  UCOL 
continued to roll out UCOL’s long term intentions towards 
blended mixed mode delivery and this will continue as a 
focus through 2021 and 2022.  

The effect on our operations is reflected in these financial 
statements based on the information available to the date 
these financial statements are signed. At this time, it is 
difficult to determine the full on-going effect of COVID-19 
and therefore some material uncertainties remain. There 
could also be other matters that affect the Institute going 
forward that we are not yet aware of.

We have also disclosed in the financial statements our 
significant assumptions and judgements regarding the 
future potential impacts that may have a material impact 
on the Institute. These uncertainties may have a material 
impact on the Institute going forward.

The main impacts on the Institute’s financial statements 
due to COVID-19 are explained below:

Government funding
The TEC confirmed during March 2020 that 2020 funding 
for Investment Plans and Fees Free will continue, and 
that it will not recover 2020 funding because of either 
non-achievement of Education Performance Indicators or 
under-delivery during the 2020 year.

This provided UCOL with certainty that it could continue 
to deliver to students despite the disruption caused by 
COVID-19. As a consequence of this, UCOL recognised all 
the 2020 funding as revenue in its financial statements for 
the 3 month period ended 31 March 2020. UCOL Limited 
has not recognised any SAC funding or fees-free revenue 
during the period.  

Student fees
Domestic and international student fees are less than 
budget.

Operating expenses
UCOL has incurred minimal additional expenditure relating 
to the direct cost impact on salaries for staff, leases, and 
developing alternative methods of delivery to students.

Valuation of land and buildings
UCOL obtained a desktop valuation as at 31 December 
2020 from its external valuer for its land and buildings.

Further information about the key valuation assumptions 
used in estimating the fair value of land and buildings are 
provided in Note 10 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
An impairment assessment has been completed 
for tangible and intangible assets. The result of this 
assessment was no impairment loss has been recognised 
please refer to Note 11 Intangible Assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
23. EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET 

2020 2020 2020

$000 $000 $000

The explanation of material variances to budget are as follows: Actual Budget Variance1

Total revenue 10,804 13,202 (2,398)

Employee benefit expenses 23,851 22,559 (1,292)

Depreciation expense 2,851 2,339 (512)

Amortisation expense 593 983 390

Materials and operations expenses 11,789 12,534 745

Cash and cash equivalents 6,537 8,366 (1,829)

Receivables and sundry assets 13,411 9,402 4,009

Properties held for sale 3,335 - 3,335

Buildings 71,705 74,604 (2,899)

Other plant and equipment 5,773 7,621 (1,848)

Employee entitlements 3,503 2,658 (845)

Asset revaluation reserve 15,736 9,498 6,238

Total revenue
Total revenue is less than the 9 month budget mainly due to the recognition of significant portion of student fee revenue 
in 31 March 2020 disestablishment accounts partly offset by the unbudgeted $405,000 gain on sale of surplus Palmerston 
North properties.

Employee benefit expenses
Employee benefit expenses are more than budget due to budget savings not being achieved in 2020. 

Depreciation expense
Depreciation expense is higher than budget because the depreciation method for some asset classes was changed from 
Diminishing Value to Straight Line subsequent to the budget being finalised.

Amortisation expense
Amortisation expense is lower than budget because capital expenditure was lower than budgeted.

Materials and operations expenses
Material and operation cost were less than budget due to EFTS being 328 less than budget driving reduced educational 
delivery expenditure.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are less than budget due to a delay in the disposal of Old Main Campus in Whanganui.  The timing 
of capital expenditure projects has softened the impact of delays in property disposal receipts in 2020.

Receivables and sundry assets
Receivables and sundry assets are more than budget due to student receivables being higher than assumed in the 2020 
budget. This is driven by assumptions relating to enrolments for the next academic year.  In addition a capital receivable due 
from the Crown in relation to the disposal of a surplus Palmerston North property is contributing to the budget variance. 

Footnote 
1 Variances reflect whether the difference between actual and budget is a good or bad variance. A variance in brackets is bad.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
23. EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET (CONTINUED)

24. SHARE CAPITAL
On 1 April 2020, UCOL issued 100 shares to Te Pūkenga 
in accordance with clause 20(1)(c) of Schedule 1 to the 
Education and Training Act 2020. Each share carries one 
vote and an equal share in dividends and distribution of 
UCOL’s surplus assets.

25. VESTING
As part of the reform of the delivery of vocational 
education in New Zealand, the Education (Vocational 
Education and Training Reform) Amendment Act 2020 
converted UCOL into UCOL Limited on 1 April 2020. On this 
date, the rights, assets, and liabilities of UCOL were vested 
in UCOL Limited for no consideration.

UCOL Limited has applied PBE IPSAS 40 PBE Combinations 
to account for the vesting of the assets and liabilities. The 
carrying amount of assets, liabilities, and equity reserves 
included in UCOL’s final disestablishment report as at 31 
March 2020 were carried forward to become the opening 
balances for the UCOL Limited’s statement of financial 
position at 1 April 2020. No adjustments were made to the 
amounts reported as at 31 March 2020 with the exception 
of a write off of capitalised course development costs to 
opening equity in accordance with instructions received 
from the parent entity Te Pūkenga. The opening 1 April 
2020 balances are presented in the statement of financial 
position.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale relate to the old main campus in 
Whanganui. It was assumed in the 2020 budget that the 
disposal of the property would be completed in 2020.

Buildings
Buildings are less than budget due to delays in capital 
expenditure projects budgeted to be completed in 2020, 
which are now scheduled for completion in 2021.

Other plant and equipment
Other plant and equipment is less than budget due 
to delays in capital expenditure projects budgeted to 
be completed in 2020, which are now scheduled for 
completion in 2021.

Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements are more than budget due to the 
assumption that historic underpayment of leave, provided 
for in prior years, would be resolved in 2020.

Asset revaluation reserve 
Asset revaluation reserve is more than budget due to 
the budget assumption that the disposal of Old Main 
Campus in Whanganui would be completed in 2020. In 
addition also contributing to the variance is a transfer of 
the building revaluation reserve balance of $3,988,000 
to opening retained earnings, to align with parent entity 
accounting policy. 
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HE KŌRERO WHĀKINGA 
DISCLOSURES
Student Services Levy Disclosure 2020
UCOL charges a compulsory Student Services Levy. This is used to support the delivery of student services as detailed below:

2020 2019
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Advocacy and legal advice 30 40 (10) 30 39 (9)

Careers information, advice and guidance 542 723 (181) 447 573 (126)

Counselling services and pastoral care 247 329 (82) 435 558 (123)

Employment information - - - - - -

Financial support and advice 122 163 (41) 90 115 (25)

Health Services 89 118 (29) 67 85 (19)

Media - - - - - -

Childcare services - - - - - -

Clubs and societies - - - - - -

Sports, recreation and cultural activities - - - - - -

TOTAL 1,030 1,373 (343) 1,069 1,370 (301)

Note: The Student Services Levy varies depending on individual student circumstances, but on average the fee is $448 per equivalent 
full time student.

V1 Note - revenue against expenditure

Advocacy and legal advice
UCOL has a Student Advocacy and Welfare Coordinator who helps students with their welfare and advocacy needs (within 
and outside of UCOL). This can include support with financial hardship, accommodation, StudyLink, Work and Income, 
meetings with faculty, disciplinary meetings, complaints processes or an exploration of what services are available for 
students.

Career information, advice and guidance
Support is provided to students before they begin study and to prepare for their post-study lives. Services include how to 
write CVs, developing interview skills, and study and career pathway guidance.

Counselling services and pastoral care
Counsellors are available to the Manawatū, Horowhenua, and Wairarapa campuses, offering individual consultations as 
required. Whanganui students have access to counselling services through the Youth Services Trust (YST). There is also 
access to specific support for Māori and Pacific Island students.

Employment information
Students can access the Employability Hub, which assists students into employment both during their time at UCOL and 
post-study. The Employability Hub shares relevant job opportunities, and gives guidance on how to look for roles, write CVs, 
and prepare for interviews.
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Financial support and advice
Students have access to a range of hardship grants and funds to support their needs when required. In addition, 
compassionate grants are issued to students to support their continued study.

Health services
Students are able to access doctors and nurses as required through specific agreements with community providers and 
assistance from the Student Success Team.

Media
Students are able to connect and communicate with each other and staff through social media channels and various 
communications tools, maintained by UCOL.

Childcare services
Early childhood education facilities are available near to each UCOL campus, to assist our students with families. Many offer 
discounts for UCOL students.

Clubs and societies
The Student Success Team has a wide range of clubs and initiatives that are available for all students. A full list is available in 
the Student Success handbook.

Sports, recreation, and cultural activities
Students can enjoy a range of cultural and orientation events, including a pōwhiri each semester. The Student Success Team 
also runs various events for students regularly throughout the year.

Official Information Act Requests
Official Information Act Requests
UCOL fully engages with its commitments under the Official Information Act 1982 and makes information available upon 
request unless good reason exists for withholding such information.  UCOL complies with its legislation obligations to protect 
official information consistent with the public interest and the preservation of privacy.  UCOL has established a policy and 
procedure for dealing with requests for official information in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Total received in 2020:  10

Request from

Department, government organisation or local authority: 3

Company, association or incorporated society: 1

Union:  1

Media:  2

Student:  1

Members of public (no apparent affiliation):  2

Outcome of request:

Fully responded:  8

Request transferred:  0

Partially responded:  1

Fully declined:  1

Average time to respond:   10.4 working days

Extensions to requests:  0

Additional information requested:  2

Costs set for requests:  0

Ombudsman complaints:  0



WHANGANUI
16 Rutland Street  
Whanganui 

MANAWATŪ
18 Princess Street 
Palmerston North

WAIRARAPA
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Masterton

HOROWHENUA
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Levin
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